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COMPANY VISION & STRATEGY

Vision
To be a reliable real estate company recognized for its strong values,
excellence and sustainable returns to its stakeholders.

Mission
To create better places in an efficient manner for people to live, work
and enjoy.

Values
Entrepreneurship, Commitment, Reliability, Teamwork and Integrity

Strategic Direction
• Barwa’s fundamental strategic direction is to be a real estate
development and investment holding company
• Barwa will make balanced income yielding investments in both
its core real estate and synergistic businesses with above market
return on investment
• Barwa’s guiding principle is to focus on improving the planning
and execution capabilities of its core business, while optimizing
and leveraging synergistic businesses that are an appropriate
strategic fit

Qatar

• The Segmented Business Model is organized around the
following elements:
Core Business:
Real Estate Development,
Investments & Operations
(Value Creation)

Synergistic Businesses:
Subsidiaries (Controlling Stake)
Private Equity (Diversifies and
Enhances Revenue Stream)

Establish the Barwa way
of planning and delivering
projects and replicate the
model to the expanded and
emerging portfolio

Well balanced portfolio
supporting profitability and
sustainable growth. Enhance
credibility and strengthen the
brand geographically

Effective Governance:
(Proper Control &
Risk Management)
Investment management
best practices and
performance management
that sustain the value
proposition

Doha
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT

ON THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDING 31/12/2011
AND THE COMPANY’S FUTURE PLANS FOR 2012
On behalf of members of the Board of Directors of Barwa Real
Estate Company and myself, it gives me great pleasure to present
to you the Annual Report on the company’s activities, performance,
consolidated financials for the year 2011 and future plans.
COMPANY’S PERFORMANCE AND ACHIEVEMENTS
2011 was a year of milestone achievements for Qatar reaffirming its
position as one of the world’s fastest growing economics. The large
scale economic diversification program as part of Qatar National
Vision 2030 and National Development Strategy has exceptionally
benefitted the real estate and infrastructure sector. Barwa, being a
leading player with competency across the complete value chain
of real estate development, investment, operational and asset
management, continues its history of strong growth and achieves
best performance at many levels. Some of the key highlights are;
• Sales completion agreement with Qatar Petroleum for the flagship
project “Qatar Petroleum District” was one of the most significant
achievements during last year. Qatar Petroleum District, expected
to be among the first to get certified as a sustainably designed
development project in the Middle East, has won local, regional
and international awards including the best design for an office
project in Qatar, best design for an office project in the Arab
region, and best project design for international administration
offices in the region through KOHLER – Germany. It has already
achieved 12 million man hours with no lost time injury.
• Barwa Al Sadd has been completed and has leased all housing
units and two of three office towers on the project. The third office
tower will serve as the headquarters of Barwa Real Estate and its
subsidiaries.
• Barwa Commercial Avenue has already completed the majority of
its construction work and is expected to be completed during the
second quarter of 2012. Barwa Commercial Avenue’s «Sayer»,
the first of 5 distinct zones to be launched, has already seen large
parts of its available retail space leased out last year.
• Barwa Village achieved 85% occupancy in 2011 and is expected
to maintain 85% – 95% occupancy levels for the next years.
Our affordable housing projects Masaken Mesaimeer and Masaken
Al Sailiya are 100% occupied.

• Waseef, our operational partner that supports the real estate
developments with robust, asset, facility and property
management has delivered strong financial results in 2011 by
achieving good cost disciplines across all its operations as well
as leveraging economies of scale in its service sectors. Waseef
started expanding its operations to third party clients (non Barwa)
and has adopted a strategy that focuses on winning a good share
of third party businesses in the next five years.
• Al Aqaria complements Barwa with its portfolio of industrial
properties and projects and provides a significant addition to our
asset base, thus helping to position the group very strongly for
future growth. Alaqaria completed projects worth QR. 2.36 billion
in the last two years and approximately QR. 2.8 billion worth QP,
Government & Energy related projects which are in the pipeline
up to 2015. During last year, many initiatives were launched to
leverage the synergies and capabilities with Al Aqaria.
• Qatar Project Management (QPM) achieved a significant
milestone last year when it was awarded a major construction
and project management contract with Qatar’s Internal Security
Force (LEKHWIYA) and FIFA 2022 program management jointly
with CH2M HILL.
• Barwa’s largest real estate investment to date, Barwa New Cairo,
a QR. 30 billion master Greenfield development in Egypt has
made significant achievements during last year. Construction for
phase 0 (retail and office buildings) ends mid-2014 and phase
1(retail, office buildings, residential, medical complex, hotel)
starts in mid-2013 and ends by 2017. Overall construction for
the project is expected to be completed by the end of 2024.
The project will meet a significant portion of its funding from
pre-sales of the residential apartments. The real estate sector
is considered to be the key driver of the Egyptian economic
development in the medium and long-term hence the market
outlook remains positive.
BUSINESS STRATEGY REVIEW
The approval of new corporate strategy and business model was a
major achievement of last year. Barwa’s new vision is to be a reliable
real estate company recognized for its strong values, excellence and
sustainable returns to its stakeholders. The new corporate strategy
that is built on the principle of disciplined and sustainable growth,
adopts the business model to be a developer and an operator for its

core business, while adopting a strategic investor operating model
for the various private equity and synergistic businesses, with focus
only on investments with long term value creation potential.

Board of Directors, its composition, duties and responsibilities,
Board and Management Committees’ terms, internal control
measures and risk management.

Qatar remains to be the key focus of Barwa’s investment strategy,
in order to capitalize on the infrastructure and growth plans in
the country and to help support the Qatar National Vision 2030.
We will pursue selective diversification internationally to leverage
opportunities in the Middle East, Turkey, the United Kingdom, North
America and Southeast Asia. Barwa’s investment strategy regularly
undergoes comprehensive reviews and it is our strong determination
and strategy that we will only support businesses that are
economically viable and which consistently generate strong returns
for the shareholders.

The new corporate strategy considers risk management as a key
priority in order to continuously enhance the risk culture and adopt
best practices in risk management across the organization in line
with Barwa’s aspirations, strategic objectives, and business plans.
To enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of our key business
processes and improve our reporting to support sound decision
making, we have implemented the ERP system. We will undertake
an information systems readiness gap analysis and implement the
necessary enhancements to achieve technological capabilities
aligned with corporate strategy.

GOVERNANCE, SYSTEMS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Barwa is committed to achieving full compliance with the corporate
governance code for companies listed in the markets regulated
by Qatar Financial Markets Authority and has made significant
progress in adopting a comprehensive corporate governance
policy that helps promote an environment of effective oversight
and strong accountability. The policy covers governance principles,

HUMAN CAPITAL
Developing nationals and ensuring participation of national talents
in every area of our business operations are of highest priority
to Barwa. Our focus is on quality Qatarization of jobs through
performance based and not time based learning and continuous
development. A talent development framework, with strong focus on
professional development solutions for the current and future leaders
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SHARI’A SUPERVISORY BOARD REPORT

to achieve Barwa’s vision and aspirations is under process for
implementation in 2012 onwards. Group Administration Directorate
has also organized several skills development programs in-house for
all the Barwa employees to enhance their job specific and personal
skills. Barwa is strongly committed to Qatar National Vision 2030 and
its human development pillar through education, training, learning
and continuously developing programs for national talents and
establishment of internationally recognized standards. Qatarization
has reached more than 50% of the total headcount. Most of the
senior management positions are occupied by Qatari nationals.
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
We are proud of our contribution to the Qatar society, and we will
continue to find ways of supporting the community through a range
of activities, support and contributions. Believing in its role towards
the community, BARWA has offered a number of units in its real
estate projects for the social associations & corporations in Qatar.
OUR FUTURE PLAN 2012
The design phase is almost complete for Baraya project, a fully
integrated mixed use development, covering an approximate
gross built up area of 324,000 m2 comprising a regional shopping
mall, a luxury five star hotel, international restaurants, 14 screen
cinema, host of other family entertainment facilities and car parking.
Construction is expected to commence in the 4th quarter of 2012.
The project is expected to be completed and commence operations
in 2015. The project has recently won “Highly Commended MixedUse Qatar Architecture” Award at the Arabian Property Awards 2011.
Construction is expected to start in April 2012 for phase 2 of Barwa
Al Baraha, an industry-focused residential development which will
have the largest workers’ accommodation in the Gulf.

Planning and conducting feasibility studies for a pipeline of
projects to support future growth is under development in line
with our growth strategy. Our priority during 2012 remains to be
on consolidating and optimizing the portfolio to ensure an array of
attractive investments with promise of strong returns and to ensure
that operations of all our subsidiaries and affiliates reach the highest
level of professionalism and excellence.
APPRECIATION
I would like to offer sincere thanks and appreciation for the support
and guidance of His Highness Sheikh Hamad Bin Khalifa Al-Thani,
the Emir of the State of Qatar, His Highness Sheikh Tamim Bin
Hamad Al-Thani, the Heir Apparent and His Excellency Sheikh
Hamad Bin Jassim Bin Jabor Al-Thani, Prime Minister and Minister
of Foreign Affairs. The growth and achievements of Barwa is founded
upon the growth and development of our nation, made possible
through our visionary leadership. We are grateful for the support
of our employees, customers, partners, and shareholders. They
are Barwa’s foundation pillars through whom we can achieve our
aspiration to be “one of the most successful real estate development
and investment companies in the world, with a home in Qatar and
a business operating around the globe”.

In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful,
Peace and Blessings upon our prophet Mohammed and upon his
Messengers.

in line with the basis approved by the Supervisory Board and in
accordance with the principles and standards of Shari’a
(c) Zakat was calculated pursuant to the provisions and principles

The Shari’a Supervisory Board monitored the applied principles,

of Shari’a

operations, transactions and contracts carried out by Barwa Real
Estate Company during the year ended on 31/12/2011.

On this occasion, we express our gratefulness and appreciation to
the Company’s management and all the Company’s shareholders

The Supervisory Board completed the review which is required to

and clients for their cooperation and help provided to the

confirm whether the company had been following Islamic Sharia’s

Supervisory Board, and we pray that Almighty Allah may grant them

regulations, rules, decisions, comments, and recommendations

all success and prosperity.

given to the Company by the Supervisory Board.
Peace be upon you and God’s mercy and blessings
The Shari’a Supervisory Board monitored, through their executive
member, the functions which include examining the Company’s
documents and procedures to scrutinize every operation carried out

Shari’a Supervisory Board

by the Company.
Dr. Osama Kais Dereai
The Shari’a Supervisory Board resolved the following:

Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

(a) All contracts, operations and transactions which were

Bait Al – Mashura Finance Consultation

implemented during the year ended on 31/12/2011 were
compliant with Islamic Sharia’s regulations

Hitmi Al-Hitmi
Chairman of the Board of Directors

(b) Distribution of profits and losses on investment accounts was

10

Annual Report 2011

Barwa Real Estate Company Q.S.C., Doha, Qatar

11

MESSAGE FROM THE GROUP CEO

Dear Shareholders,

Please find below a short roadmap on the Corporate Strategy execution.

2011 was one of the most challenging years for Barwa, as we reinvented the
Group’s strategic direction and set new execution priorities. The Board of Directors
report presented in the previous pages reflects the major operational highlights and
achievements during last year, however, I would like to elaborate on the financial results
and provide an indication of how we intend to move forward with executing the new
corporate strategy.

Our growth strategy covers 4 elements
1. Optimize
And Grow Core

2. Be Creative About
Funding Structure

3. Synergistic Businesses to
Diversify Revenue

4. Invest For
Future Growth

We will execute the strategy by working through four strategic principles
Financial Results
Last year, we received a net profit of QAR 1,285 million compared to QAR 1,411 million in
2010. The larger revenues recorded in 2010 were a result of Barwa’s acquisition of Barwa
Al-Khor land in 2010. This year’s financial results demonstrate strong operating income
growth, represented by increase in gains on the sale of properties, from QAR 159 million
in 2010 to QAR 556 million in 2011. Barwa has also seen a 249% increase in the gain
from the sale of subsidiaries from QAR 404 Million in 2011 compared to no such income
recorded in 2010. Further, Barwa experienced an increase in rental revenues by QAR
260 million – a 59% increase compared to the previous year – mainly due to the start of
operations of Barwa Village and Barwa Al Sadd.
Cost Efficiency
We have implemented several initiatives to improve our cost efficiency, achieving QAR 495
million savings in general and administrative expenditure (decrease of 38% compared to
2010) and QAR 545 million savings in financial costs (decrease of 35% compared to 2010)
due to restructuring financial obligations.
Direct operating costs, as percentage of operating income, reduced to 23% in 2011
compared to 43% in 2010.
Strategy Execution
Executing the corporate strategy is the primary driver for achieving Barwa’s vision to be a
“reliable real estate company recognized for its strong values, excellence and sustainable
returns to its stakeholders”.

Operational
Excellence

Effective
Governance

Disciplined and
Sustainable Growth

Performance Driven
Organization

Execution will result in the following strategic actions
Strong Value Creation Potential and Attractive Returns
Strong Value Creation Potential and Current Returns Unattractive
No More an Appropriate Strategic Fit

INVEST
TURNAROUND/IMPROVE
EXIT

I want to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to the Board of Directors, management team, employees, and all our partners for their
continued support and contributions.
Looking forward to a successful 2012.
Thank you,
Abdulla Abdul Aziz Al Subaie
Group Chief Executive Officer
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
In thousands of Qatari Riyals

Net profit
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the parents

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

1,285,801

1,411,092

743,347

305,874

561,824

1,252,368

1,405,629

765,817

309,960

529,693

Total equity

12,531,107

13,100,693

5,763,118

4,772,517

3,224,891

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the parents

12,055,672

11,231,233

5,176,801

4,442,741

2,975,173

30.98

28.86

19.72

16.92

14.00

3.22

4.04

2.92

1.46

2.49

65,806,639

73,982,187

34,892,831

24,317,143

15,695,603

10%

13%

15%

7%

18%

Net book value per share
Earning per share
Total Assets
Return on Equity

Return On Equity

1,600,000

18.00%

1,400,000

16.00%

1,200,000

14.00%

1,000,000

10.00%

800,000

8.00%

600,000
QAR'000

12.00%

6.00%
4.00%
2.00%

400,000
200,000
0

0.00%
2007

2008

2009

2010

2007

2011

2008

2009

2010

2011

2008

2009

2010

2011

Total Assets

Earning Per Share

80,000
4.50

70,000

4.00

60,000

3.50

50,000

3.00

40,000

2.00

30,000

QAR'Million

2.50

1.50
1.00
0.50
0.00

20,000
10,000
-

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2007

The Corporate Governance Code for public listed entities, issued by
the Qatar Financial Market Authority (“QFMA CGC”) is the guiding
framework for Barwa’s corporate governance system. The group’s
corporate governance processes, policies and procedures are fully
aligned with QFMA CGC recommended practice. Other laws and
regulations applicable by Qatar and the Qatar Exchange are also
closely observed by the group.
Barwa’s corporate governance structure is designed to enable
effective management by accelerating decision-making and
business operations, and ensuring fair and transparent operations.

Net Profit Attributable To
Shareholders Of The Parents

20.00%

Barwa is fully committed towards implementing its Corporate
Governance Framework, which provides the discipline essential for
the group to fulfil its operational commitment towards stakeholders
and the community.

The primary governing body is the Board of Directors, that is
empowered to make decisions on critical business issues and is
responsible for Barwa’s internal control system.
The Board is assisted by an Internal Audit Committee, and an
Executive Officer system which transfers the authority for executing
strategies to the operating level.
A Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee is
also in place, they are responsible for ensuring the transparent
selection, monitoring and remuneration of members of Barwa’s
Board of Directors.
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Doha
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REAL ESTATE IN QATAR

Barwa Commercial Avenue

Barwa Al Sadd

Barwa Al Doha - Baraya

Barwa Commercial Avenue is an iconic mixed-use development that
stretches over 8.5 kilometers in length and offers over 1,000,000
square meters of state-of-the-art facilities, supported by an
advanced infrastructure network.

Spread over 27,654 square meters on Doha’s bustling Suhaim Bin
Hamad Street, the Barwa Al Sadd project is considered one of
Qatar’s largest real estate developments.

Located on the intersection between Muntazah Street and Ahmed
bin Mohamed Al Thani Street is Barwa Al Doha, an impressive
mixed-use development that covers an estimated built up area of
324,000 square meters.

Located in close proximity to Doha’s Industrial Area, the development
has already radically transformed the area into which, when complete
at the end of 2012, will be a mix of modern commercial complexes,
showrooms, offices and high-quality apartments.
Comprising five distinct yet interconnected zones – Jeera, Safwa,
Joud, Arkan and Sayer, the development boasts an advanced
retail mix, a flexible and dynamic office design and a variety of
accommodation options. The project also features impressive
shopping malls, food and beverage outlets, pharmacies, a medical
centre, grocery stores, entertainment venues and parking facilities.
Barwa Commercial Avenue has already been recognized by the
industry, receiving the Development of the Year (2011) honor from
the Construction Week Qatar Awards.

With an estimated total cost of QR 2.4 billion, the project features
three office towers, a five-star hotel, a retail centre, three apartment
buildings and extensive parking facilities.

The project features a five-star hotel comprising 257 hotel guest
rooms and 71 fully furnished serviced apartments, restaurants,
a supermarket and a multi-level car park that can accommodate
2800 vehicles. The development also contains a multi-level shopping
mall that covers 90,000 square meters and consisting of 290 retail
outlets, cinemas and a family entertainment centre.

All housing units and two of the three office towers have now been
leased on the project. The third office tower is expected to serve as
the headquarters of Barwa Real Estate Company and its subsidiaries
when the group relocates later in 2012.

Barwa Al Doha has an investment value of approximately QR 2,588
billion and the project is scheduled for completion in 2015.

Barwa Al Baraha
Measuring approximately 1.8 million square meters, Barwa Al Baraha
development is designed to serve as an integrated workers’ city that
will accommodate 53,000 workers and employees, making it the
GCC’s largest workers’ accommodation.
The project will be developed in two phases. Phase one focuses on
establishing Qatar’s largest truck and vehicle parking space, while
phase two will provide worker and staff accommodation, pre-owned
car show rooms, auctions, workshops and stores for truck and
machinery maintenance services.
With an investment volume of QAR 2 billion, the project is expected
to include a hotel, an entertainment centre, a mall, a laundry, a health
centre, a mosque, an Islamic centre, a police station, a civil defence
centre, a fire-control centre, in addition to sports facilities, shops,
restaurants, offices and public spaces.
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Barwa Village

Barwa City

Located in Al Wakra district, Barwa Village is a master-planned
development that reflects Barwa’s commitment towards
communities living outside Doha.

In close proximity to Doha’s city centre and international airport
is Barwa City, a project that offers modern homes within a
contemporary setting.

Covering 400,000 square meters with a built-up area of 186,000
square meters, Barwa Village consists of 18 low-rise commercial
and residential complexes that offer 918 high quality retail units,
96 studio apartments, 262 one-bedroom apartments and 100 twobedroom apartments.

Located in the Mesaimeer area, the 1.35 million square meter
development comprises 128 buildings with approximately 6,000
apartments consisting of two and three bedroom apartments and
studios.

Project facilities include a health club, an international school, a
nursery, a medical clinic, a shopping centre, a market, a mosque,
restaurants, parking facilities and a range of green spaces.

Barwa Al Khor

Barwa Village was completed in 2010 and has rapidly reached high
occupancy rates.

Masaken Mesaimeer and Masaken Al Sailiya
Masaken Mesaimeer and Masaken Al Sailiya are housing projects
that were designed to provide high quality affordable housings units.
Built on two separate sites, which together comprise a total area
of 400,000 square meters, the projects consist of 62 residential
buildings, which offer 1,984 two and three bedroom residential units.
The developments also feature playgrounds, health clubs, swimming
pools, nurseries, a supermarket and green spaces.
Masaken Mesaimeer and Masaken Al Sailiya projects were handed
over in March 2009 and August 2010, respectively.

Covering an extensive area of 5.5 million square meters and a built
up area of 3.6 million square meters, the Barwa Al Khor project is
expected to accommadate 24,114 residential units which combine
villas, town houses, terraces and flats, in addition to two marinas
and extensive green spaces.
Other facilities include four schools, a shopping mall, a mosque, a
golf course, a clinic, a library, an information centre, in addition to
public and private beaches, and 2 four and five star resort hotels.
Moreover, an agreement was signed between Barwa and Shell Qatar
in March 2011 to provide oil and gas professionals with high quality
accommodation inside the project.
Seventy percent of the project design has now been finalized and
the project is scheduled for completion in December 2013.

19

When complete the entire city is expected to benefit from a first
class modern infrastructure and services such as one of the
first centralised gas networks in Qatar, a district cooling system,
international schools, nurseries, retail outlets, mosques, restaurants
and a variety of recreational facilities.
Phase one of the development is expected to be completed in
April 2012.
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INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS

Barwa New Cairo

Nuzul Holdings

Ottoman Projects

Astrakhan Project

Barwa’s New Cairo development is not only the group’s largest real
estate development to date, but is one of the region’s largest and
most challenging projects.

Nuzul Holdings focuses on the “serviced apartments” concept within
the hospitality sector. The group currently owns two 3 and 4 star
properties in Bahrain and Qatar, those include the 118 unit Somerset
Juffair serviced residencies in Manama and the 200 unit Somerset
Corniche serviced residencies in Doha.

In 2007 Barwa entered the Turkish market with the acquisition of a
plot of land measuring 15,500 square meters through a consortium
of Turkish partners led by the prominent Turkish developer Sinpas.

Barwa’s first investment in Russia in 2008 was the Astrakhan project,
which represents a joint venture with Bauinvest, a leading Russian
retail company.

In close proximity to Atatürk International Airport and the old city,
the land is expected to be developed into a luxury residential and
hotel development in Istanbul’s Zeyetenburnu area. The project will
include a five-star hotel, hotel apartments and condominiums which
will provide residents and guests a contemporary setting along the
picturesque Maramara shores.

Developed on a greenfield site in Astrakhan, the capital of Russia’s
increasingly important Astrakhan region, lying in the delta of the
Volga River, the project will provide a fully integrated shopping park
with a gross leasable area of 60,000 square meters.

The project is set to become a major destination within New Cairo
City and a natural extension to one of the world’s largest and most
historic cities. Covering a land area of 8.5 million square meters and
a built up area of 6.8 million square meters, the project is expected
to accommodate approximately 39,000 residential units which
include gated villas, townhouses and high-rise apartments. Other
facilities include schools, hospitals, mosques, parks, shopping
complexes and health facilities.
The project is expected to be completed in 2024.

Nuzul has signed a ten-year management contract for the properties
with Singapore-based Ascott International, the largest serviced
residence owner-operator outside the U.S. The deal marks the first
of several serviced residences that are expected to be launched by
Nuzul Holding across the Middle East.
Other properties owned by Nuzul Holdings include Jewar Tower in
Makkah and Al Muftah Tower in Doha.

Barwa – Gazprombank Russia Real Estate
Fund
With a focus on investing in the Russian Real Estate Market, the
Barwa-Gazprombank Russia Real Estate Fund (The Fund) was
established in 2010. The Fund represents a joint venture between
Barwa, TFI and Gazprombank.
Through a targeted investment strategy and a structured approach,
The Fund seeks to generate high returns by investing in real estate
opportunities in Russia with a key focus on the Moscow area.

North Row London
In early 2011, Barwa acquired 25, North Row, a historic building in
London’s prestigious Mayfair Conservation Area in the West End,
which dates back to the 1950s. North Row runs parallel to Oxford
Street, London’s internationally recognized fashion and retail hub.
Measuring approximately 2,222 square meters, the property
is expected to be converted into high-end office spaces once
refurbishment and redevelopment work is complete.

Guidance Hotels Investment Company
Guidance Hotels Investment Company (GHIC) was established
in 2006 to invest in the rapidly growing Middle East leisure and
hospitality sector, and particularly in a niche Sharia Compliant hotel
brand in the MENA region.
In partnership with Kempinski Hotels and Resorts, the world’s oldest
internationally renowned luxury hotel chain, GHIC has developed
a portfolio of hotels under the “Shaza” brand across Europe, the
Middle East and North Africa regions. Shaza is a unique hotel
brand that has been specifically designed with the preferences and
characteristics of intra-regional travelers in mind. To date, it consists
of five projects – Shaza Madinah, Shaza Marrakech, Shaza Fez,
Shaza Bahrain Bay and Shaza Cairo.
The GHIC portfolio is characterized by its strong emphasis on lifestyle,
cultural awareness, tradition, international service and high value.

Jeddah Vegetable Market
Barwa made its first investment in Saudi Arabia in 2007 with a
project to develop the Jeddah Vegetable Market on the JeddahMakka express way. The market will be exclusively licensed by the
municipality of Jeddah as the city’s premier wholesale market.
Measuring 400,000 square meters with a built up area of 96,000
square meters, the project is expected to accommodate 2,000 shops
and, when complete, will become the largest central vegetable
market in Saudi Arabia.

Properties surrounding North Row are designed for mixed-use retail,
commercial, residential and office purposes.

Larnaca Bay, Cyprus
Covering an area measuring 54,670 square meters in Larnaca Bay
in southern Cyprus, the land is expected to be developed into a five
star resort hotel targeting European and Middle Eastern tourists.
The Larnaca Bay project is located in the vicinity of 3 four-star
resorts to the east, and a non-operational resort directly to the west.
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INVESTMENT AND
PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT

Barwa Bank

Cavendish Capital

Qatar Project Management

TAS Qatar

Barwa Bank was launched in 2009, as an associate company of
Barwa group. With a mission to transform the Islamic banking
experience in Qatar by creating a “universal Islamic banking group,”
the bank combines resources in retail, corporate, private, treasury
and investment banking operations.

Cavendish Capital was established in 2007 as a diversified Shari’a
compliant private equity group based in London. Barwa is currently
the group’s largest shareholder.

Established in 2008, Qatar Project Management (QPM) is one of
the region’s premier project management companies and the first
Qatari firm in the field. QPM provides world class real estate and
infrastructure project management services with a focus on ensuring
project efficiency. The company is well positioned to provide
services for civil infrastructure, commercial, leisure, real estate, and
residential projects within the growing global marketplace.

TAS Qatar is a joint venture between Barwa Real Estate Group (51%)
and TAS Energy from the United States (49%).

Since its inception, Barwa Bank has made a number of notable
acquisitions. These include The First Investor and First Finance,
Qatari based investment shareholding companies, which is
considered a key part of the bank’s strategy of delivering
exceptional banking and service standards.
Barwa Bank also acquired a minimum of 75% and maximum of
the entire share capital of First Finance (Q.S.C.) and First Leasing
Company (P.S.C.). These acquisitions further enhance Barwa
Bank’s service offering and capabilities in consumer finance, retail,
commercial, asset management and private client banking.

While focusing on income generating real estate and related
services, as well as private equity and capital market activities,
Cavendish Capital aims to leverage its London presence to
support Barwa Real Estate in diversifying its portfolio. Cavendish
Capital also actively provides local support for Barwa’s European
investments and to Middle East investors seeking to invest into UK
and European markets.

Al Imtiaz
Founded in 2005 in Kuwait, Al Imtiaz Investment Company is a Shari’a
compliant company with interests in financial services, real estate and
the construction industry. The company’s principal activities include
investments, advisory services and asset management.
Barwa currently owns 25% of Al Imtiaz Investment Company, which
has numerous investment interests in the GCC. The company
provides consulting and company restructuring services, asset
management and financial brokerage.

QPM’s international and local expertise is grounded in a full range
of professional project management services including; project
management, design management and construction management.
QPM is currently managing a number of mega projects in Qatar and
international markets.

Tanween
Established in 2007, Tanween has rapidly become a pioneer
development management consultancy in Qatar.
By managing the development process end to end; from market
research, land acquisition, project finance, property legal advice,
design, planning consent, construction, marketing, sales, asset
management and advice on exit strategy, Tanween’s services cover
all aspects of the real estate and construction industry.
Since its inception, the company has grown substantially and currently
services a large portfolio of projects under development, which range
from master planned communities to fully fledged integrated cities.

Waseef
Waseef is a subsidiary of Barwa Real Estate and is regarded
as one of the largest fully integrated asset, property and facility
management service companies in Qatar.
With a mission to extend its management services in Qatar and
internationally, Waseef has emerged as a leading property and
facility management services company that is able to offer high
quality services for each stage of a property’s life-cycle. Services
include asset, property and facility management for a number of
iconic Barwa projects.

TAS Qatar provides feasibility and project design for district
cooling and turbine inlet cooling systems, turnkey solutions for
district cooling plants and turbine inlet air cooling, operation and
maintenance of district cooling and turbine inlet cooling plants,
manufacture and supply of modular chilling packages, renewable
energy solutions (waste heat and solar thermal) solutions, modular
data centers and operational support equipment
TAS Qatar is recognized as a leader in the field of district cooling
and has successfully completed the construction of district cooling
plants with a built capacity of TR 75,200 and an installed capacity
of TR 37,600.

Alaqaria
Qatar Real Estate Investment Company (Alaqaria), is a leading
Qatari Private Joint Shareholding Company (PJSC) with a mission
to identify and invest in long-term projects which contribute to
Qatar’s growth.
Established in 1995, the company’s core business is in real
estate investment and development, with a focus on developing
residential projects in Qatar’s industrial areas - namely Dukhan,
Mesaieed, and Al Khor.
Over the last 17 years, Alaqaria has built a major presence in
Qatar and has emerged as one of the country’s leading real estate
development companies.
In 2010 Barwa Real Estate Company took ownership of Alaqaria,
following this, Alaqaria acquired 100% of ASAS Real Estate
Company in 2012.
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OUR COMMUNITY

ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITMENT

OUR PEOPLE

Barwa is not only a key player in Qatar’s emergence as a vibrant
investment hub with a progressive long-term outlook, but the group
also plays an essential role serving the local community at all levels.

Developing environmental aspects and ensuring development that
is sustainable and which offers a fitting and lasting legacy for future
generations, is an intrinsic part of Qatar National Vision 2030,
a vision Barwa strongly supports.

Barwa has made significant achievements over the years, mainly due
to the dedication and hard work of its employees, who are integral to
the group’s success and its long-term performance.

While pushing through ambitious development plans, Barwa
continues to actively encourage respect for the environment
through implementing energy-efficient building standards,
developing national talent, creating jobs for nationals and highcaliber expatriates, focusing on healthcare, education and
helping the country diversify its economy through new investment
opportunities.
Barwa’s legacy lies in its determination to create and sustain a strong
sense of community through its investments and iconic portfolio of
projects, which range from world-class business hubs to affordable
community housing and the largest workers’ city in the GCC.
With the responsibility of creating more than just buildings,
but complete communities, even the most ambitious projects
undertaken by Barwa will operate with the philosophy of bringing
people together.

As Barwa’s ambitious projects successfully move forward, the
group continues to demonstrate its environmental respect, which
is evident from project planning stages through to design and
implementation. Barwa plays a leading role in the adoption of
sustainable construction techniques and energy-efficient building
standards, which are considered an integral part of every project the
group undertakes.
The Qatar Petroleum District for instance is currently working closely
with the Gulf Organization for Research and Development (GORD)
and the project is well on track to achieving a Qatar Sustainability
Assessment System (QSAS) rating.
The project is still in the early stages of the process having recently
completed the Design Verification Stage for its office towers
using QSAS Commercial Typology Preliminary Assessment stage
assessment tool. Qatar Petroleum District was recently awarded
a “Letter of Preliminary Conformance to Qatar Sustainability
Assessment System (QSAS) Building Design Certification” for its office
towers which confirms the final aggregated score at the preliminary
assessment stage of 0.90, which corresponds to a certification level of
2 Star in the QSAS rating system. The project’s Hotel Assessment is
ongoing and is also based on the QSAS Hotel Typology.
The Barwa City project also received four-star QSAS Certification for
the design of its Barwa City Schools. Barwa’s vision for the schools is
to create a new style of academic experience within a distinctive and
unique environment. With a focus on sustainability through ecological
impact and green building design criteria, the design of Barwa City
schools is completely unique in comparison to other buildings.
To ensure Barwa operates within sound environmental principles, the
group has also built-in operational standards such as the Leadership
in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) rating system into its
procedures and specifications.

As Barwa continues to expand and diversify its operations from being
a purely real estate driven company into an international investment
and real estate conglomerate, employees remain at the heart of the
company’s vision. Through close internal collaboration across group
practices and externally with partners, clients and shareholders,
Barwa has managed to build a leading coherent team.
Barwa is committed towards supporting the Qatar National Vision
2030, which aims to empower Qatari nationals in sustaining Qatar’s
long-term development and prosperity. As part of Barwa’s regional
and international expansion plans and commitment towards national
talent development, the group recognises the need to continue to
invest in developing and nurturing specialised skills and expertise
both within the group and externally.
Building a leading and successful company and prosperous nation
requires the support of an exceptional and dedicated team who are
committed towards quality and consistency. Barwa therefore focuses
on quality nationalization of jobs through performance based learning
and continuous development. By encouraging career development
that is based on sound decision-making and accountability, Barwa
has succeeded in equipping employees with the necessary skills and
tools needed to thrive in a competitive market.
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To date, Barwa has partnered with a number of leading business
management schools, with the aim of providing employees
world-class training that will enable them to develop the skills
required to further enhance their careers in investment, real estate
project and asset management.
Barwa’s Group Development and Human Resources department is
also in the process of designing a talent development framework and
individual development program. When rolled-out, the program will
provide Barwa staff with an abundance of learning and development
opportunities to further enhance professional development and
assist them in reaching their full potential.
Developing national talent and ensuring their participation in every
aspect of business operations remain a key priority. Today over 50%
of all Barwa employees are Qatari nationals.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

to the shareholders of Barwa Real Estate Company Q.S.C.
Report On The Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Barwa Real Estate Company Q.S.C. (“Barwa”) and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011, the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Responsibility of the Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal controls as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to

BARWA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the Group’s preparation
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by Directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2011, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on other Legal And Regulatory Requirements
We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purpose of our audit. The Group has maintained
proper accounting records and the consolidated financial statements are in agreement therewith. We have reviewed the accompanying report
of the Board of Directors and confirm that the financial information contained therein is in agreement with the books and records of the Group.
We are not aware of any violations of the provisions of Qatar Companies Commercial Law No. 5 of 2002 or the terms of Articles of Association
having occurred during the year which might have had a material effect on the business of the Group or its consolidated financial position as at
31 December 2011.

04 March 2012
Doha				
State of Qatar		

Gopal Balasubramaniam
KPMG
Qatar Auditor’s Registry No. 251
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

As at 31 December 2011

For the year ended 31 December 2011
In thousands of Qatari Riyals

Note

2011

In thousands of Qatari Riyals

2010

ASSETS
Cash and bank balances

5

12,983,145

Gain on remeasurement of investment properties

13

1,097,969

376,123

3,959

Share of results from equity accounted investees

14

327,279

(168,080)

Gain on sale of properties

27

555,875

159,494

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries / loss of control

28

404,073

-

29

821,573

215,100

702,773

442,662

127,895

334,290

6

38,270,273

31,694,512

7

55,150

-

Receivables and prepayments

8

1,058,969

2,777,773

Income from consultancy and other services

Available-for-sale financial assets

9

3,041,593

2,736,140

Rental income

Finance lease receivables

10

3,056,434

1,806,641

Income from banking activities

Advances for projects and investments

11

2,861,036

6,048,411

Income from unconditional discharge of borrowings

230,771

186,334

12.a

Investment properties

13

10,662,946

12,584,160

Investments in equity accounted investees

14

3,182,291

1,951,115

Goodwill

15

126,411

413,809

Property, plant and equipment

16

554,160

796,188

Deferred tax assets

17

76,083

-

65,806,639

73,982,187

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Liabilities of a subsidiary held for sale

7

62,939

-

Payables and accruals

18

5,080,044

8,822,818

Liabilities under derivative financial instruments

19

452,134

674,820

20

2,486,437

3,272,667

12.b

16,822,844

23,907, 254

Obligations under Islamic finance contracts

21

28,371,134

24,178,951

Deferred tax liabilities

17

-

24,984

53,275,532

60,881,494

TOTAL LIABILITIES

21

Gain from previously held interests in acquired subsidiaries
Bargain purchase gain
Other income

30

22

3,891,246

3,891,246

Legal reserve

23

481,107

355,870

General reserve

24

4,639,231

4,639,231

-

27,722

Risk reserve
Other reserves

25

(49,533)

(45,154)

Treasury shares

26

(4,119)

(4,991)

914,900

-

3,063,115

-

2,266,527

385,525

906,595

4,422,962

8,510,726

352,550

284,917

General and administrative expenses

Operating expenses
31

792,164

1,286,831

Impairment losses, net

32

766,672

3,801,842

Depreciation

16

99,127

91,863

26,506

79,715

Expenses from banking activities
Provisions

Net finance costs

33

Profit before taxes
Income taxes

17

Profit from continuing operations
7

Net profit for the year

Share capital

-

EXPENSES AND LOSSES

Profit from subsidiary held for sale
EQUITY

Retained earnings

2010

4,137

Assets of a subsidiary held for sale

Due to related parties

2011

2,626,385

Trading properties

Liabilities for purchase of land

Note
REVENUES AND GAINS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Due from related parties

29

183,046

-

2,220,065

5,545,168

1,016,709

1,561,552

1,186,188

1,404,006

89,537

7,086

1,275,725

1,411,092

10,076

-

1,285,801

1,411,092

1,252,368

1,405,629

Attributable to
Owners of the Parent
Non-controlling interests

33,433

5,463

1,285,801

1,411,092

34

3.22

4.04

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets

25

(29,920)

(124,106)

Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets transferred to profit or loss

25

11,163

101,524
(25,728)

Basic and diluted earnings per share
Other comprehensive income

3,097,740

2,367,309

12,055,672

11,231,233

475,435

1,869,460

TOTAL EQUITY

12,531,107

13,100,693

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges

25

(2,382)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

65,806,639

73,982,187

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit or loss

25

37,443

74,362

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations

25

26,438

(11,334)

42,742

14,718

1,328,543

1,425,810

1,292,655

1,400,538

Total equity attributable to the Owners of the Parent
Non-controlling interests

These consolidated financial statements were approved and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors by the following on 4 March 2012:

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

Attributable to
Hitmi Ali Al Hitmi

Abdulla Abdulaziz Al-Subaie

Owners of the Parent

Chairman

Chief Executive Officer and Board Member

Non-controlling interests

The attached notes from 1 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The attached notes from 1 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

35,888

25,272

1,328,543

1,425,810

-

Total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer to Social and Sports Fund
Transfer to legal reserve
Transfer to risk reserve

-

Board of directors remuneration for 2009
Treasury shares resulting from newly acquired
subsidiaries

-

Non-controlling interest acquired
Non-controlling interests assumed through
business combinations
355,870

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

140,563

-

-

-

-

215,307

-

215,307

Legal
reserve

4,639,231

-

Transfer to risk reserve

-

Board of directors remuneration for 2010
Treasury shares resulting from newly acquired
subsidiaries

-

Change in purchase consideration payable to
non controlling interest

481,107

-

-

(4,991)

-

-

-

-

(4,119)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(872)

-

(872)

Treasury
shares

4,639,231

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,639,231

General
reserve

-

-

-

-

(27,722)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

27,722

Risk
reserve

(49,533)

-

(31,811)

-

(12,855)

-

-

-

-

-

-

40,287

40,287

-

(45,154)

Other
reserves

(4,119)

-

-

-

872

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(4,991)

Treasury
shares

3,097,740

23,271

(28,049)

10,626

27,722

-

(9,000)

(389,125)

-

(125,237)

(32,145)

1,252,368

-

1,252,368

2,367,309

Retained
earnings

2,367,309

-

(30,543)

116,437

270,116

-

(1,500)

(525,000)

-

(24,954)

(140,563)

(35,277)

1,405,629

-

1,405,629

1,332,964

(58,921)

1,391,885

Retained
earnings

12,055,672

23,271

(59,860)

10,626

(11,983)

-

(9,000)

(389,125)

-

-

(32,145)

1,292,655

40,287

1,252,368

11,231,233

Total

11,231,233

-

(30,543)

116,437

270,116

(4,119)

(1,500)

(525,000)

4,863,780

-

-

(35,277)

1,400,538

(5,091)

1,405,629

5,176,801

(56,153)

5,232,954

Total

13,100,693

980,806

(35,863)

150,000

518,938

(4,119)

(1,500)

(525,000)

4,863,780

-

-

(35,277)

1,425,810

14,718

1,411,092

5,763,118

(105,196)

5,868,314

Total
equity

475,435

-

(92,709)

10,626

(1,347,830)

-

-

-

-

-

-

35,888

2,455

33,433

1,869,460

Noncontrolling
interests

12,531,107

23,271

(152,569)

21,252

(1,359,813)

-

(9,000)

(389,125)

-

-

(32,145)

1,328,543

42,742

1,285,801

13,100,693

Total
equity

In thousands of Qatari Riyals

1,869,460

980,806

(5,320)

33,563

248,822

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

25,272

19,809

5,463

586,317

(49,043)

635,360

Noncontrolling
interests
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3,891,246

-

Transfers on cancellation of non-controlling
interest in subsidiary

-

-

-

-

-

-

125,237

-

-

-

-

355,870

(45,154)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(5,091)

(5,091)

-

(40,063)

-

(40,063)

Other
reserves

Equity Attributable to the Owners of the Parent

27,722

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

24,954

-

-

-

-

-

2,768

2,768

-

Risk
reserve

In thousands of Qatari Riyals

Barwa Real Estate Company Q.S.C., Doha, Qatar

Balance at 31 December 2011

-

Change due to loss on control
Contributions by non-controlling interest

Change in ownership interest in subsidiaries and
other transactions with non-controlling interests

-

Dividends declared for 2010

Transactions with owners of the Parent
recognized directly in equity

-

Transfer to legal reserve

Total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer to Social and Sports Fund

-

Other comprehensive income
for the year (Note 25)

3,891,246

Net profit for the year

Balance at 31 December 2010

2011

Share capital

Legal
reserve

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2011

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,597,534

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,041,697

-

1,041,697

General
reserve

Equity Attributable to the Owners of the Parent

The attached notes from 1 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

3,891,246

-

Sale to non-controlling interest

Balance at 31 December 2010

-

Contributions by non-controlling interest

Change in ownership interest in subsidiaries and
other transactions with non-controlling interests

-

Dividends declared for 2009

Additional share capital issued

1,266,246

-

Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year
(Note 25)

Transactions with owners of the Parent
recognized directly in equity

-

2,625,000

-

2,625,000

Share capital

Net profit for the year

Balance at 31 December 2009 as restated

Prior period adjustments

Balance at 31 December 2009
as previously stated

2010

For the year ended 31 December 2011

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

30
31

32
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2011

For the year ended 31 December 2011
In thousands of Qatari Riyals

Note
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net profit for the year

2011

2010

1,285,801

1,411,092

(1,097,969)
(178)
(64,806)
99,127
(89,537)
(327,279)
766,672
(555,875)
(404,073)
(59,901)
(43,789)
(491,807)

(914,900)
(376,123)
207
6,721
91,863
(7,086)
168,080
3,801,842
(159,494)
(2,266,527)
(3,063,115)
(856,412)
1,786
(2,162,066)

(432,266)
217,728
(228,646)
(934,991)

48,895
2,054,505
(58,666)

(14,700)
1,904,768
(4,397,656)
(5,000)
(2,627,720)
(58,915)
145,713
1,799,880
36,208
440,252
129,760
(2,986,571)
(5,633,981)

(299,233)
(5,977,527)
(2,064,496)
(619,070)
(285,438)
(1,782,470)
(181,297)
176,335
24,403
(1,644,315)
(12,653,108)

Adjustments for:
Income from unconditional discharge of borrowings
Gain on remeasurment of investment properties
Unrealized (gains) / losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Gain) / loss on sale of available-for-sale financial assets
Depreciation
Net deferred tax benefit
Share of results from equity accounted investees
Impairment losses, net
Gain on sale of properties
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries / loss of control
Bargain purchase gain
Gain on previously held interest in acquired subsidiaries
Gain on reversal of a provision
(Gain) / loss on disposal of furniture and equipment
Operating loss before working capital changes

13
30
16
17
14
32
27
28

30
30

Changes in working capital:

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from obligations under Islamic finance contracts
(Payments) / proceeds from financing provided by Ultimate Controlling Party
Payments from the outstanding Islamic finance obligations
Payments for obligations for purchase of land
Dividends paid
Board of Directors’ remuneration paid
Restricted bank balances
NET CASH (USED IN) / FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DURING THE YEAR
Net translation differences
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalent for loss of control on subsidiaries
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR (NOTE 5)

The attached notes from 1 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

In thousands of Qatari Riyals

1.

REPORTING ENTITY

Barwa Real Estate Company Q.S.C. (“the Company” or “the Parent”) was incorporated pursuant to the provision of Article 68 of the Qatar
Commercial Company Law No. 5 of 2002 as Qatari Shareholding Company under Commercial Registration No. 31901 dated 27 December 2005.
The term of the Company is 100 years starting from the date of declaration in the Commercial Register. The shares of the Company are listed on
Qatar Exchange. The registered office of the Company is in Doha, State of Qatar.
The principal activities of the Parent include investment in all types of real estate including acquiring, reclamation, dividing, developing and
reselling of land and to establish agricultural, industrial, commercial projects on land, or lease those land, and also buying, selling and leasing
buildings or projects. It also administers and operates real estate investments in and outside the State of Qatar. The Parent, along with its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) are engaged in the business of developing domestic and international real estate projects, investing, hotels ownership
and management, projects consulting, advertisement and others.
The Group’s subsidiaries accounting for more than 5% of the total assets of the Group during the current and previous year, and included in
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. In addition to below listed subsidiaries, there are a number of other subsidiaries
financial statements that are consolidated into these consolidated financial statements and are accounting for less than 5% of the total assets of

Change in receivables and prepayments
Change in finance lease receivables
Change in payables and accruals
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net cash outflows from acquisitions of subsidiaries
Payments for business combinations net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries
Payments for development / acquisition of properties under development and investment properties
Payments made for purchase of properties and investments
Payments for refundable advances
Payments for establishment and new capital issue of equity accounted investees
Payments for purchase of available-for-sale financial assets
Payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of investment properties
Dividends received from equity accounted investees
Change in advances paid for purchase of investments and property
Disposal of equity accounted investees
Funds provided to related parties for investing activities
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

33

16

14
14

21
21

5,027,000
(4,245,499)
(727,000)
(764,657)
(389,125)
(9,000)
159,173
(949,108)

16,286,036
19,474,000
(11,372,464)
(204,847)
(525,000)
(1,500)
(103,140)
23,553,085

(7,518,080)
(163,382)
12,822,509
(2,516,125)
2,624,922

10,841,311
110,700
1,870,498
12,822,509

the Group:
Name of the Subsidiary

Country of incorporation

Shareholding percentage

Barwa International S.P.C.

Qatar

100%

Qatar Real Estate Investment Company P.Q.S.C. (Al Aqaria)

Qatar

100%

Barwa Al Khour Company W.L.L.

Qatar

100%

Barwa Al-Doha Real Estate Company W.L.L.

Qatar

65%

Barwa City Real Estate Company W.L.L.

Qatar

100%

Barwa Egypt Real Estate S.A.E.

Egypt

100%

Barwa Commercial Avenue W.L.L

Qatar

95%

Barwa Financial District W.L.L.

Qatar

100%

Barwa Cooling Company S.P.C.

Qatar

100%

Barwa Al-Sadd Company S.P.C.

Qatar

100%

Nuzul Qatar Company Limited W.L.L.

Qatar

50%

Luxemburg

100%

Barwa Luxemburg S.A.R.L.
Cavendish Capital

U.K.

92%

Bahrain

96.5%

Al Waseef Property Management Company S.P.C.

Qatar

100%

Barwa Village S.P.C.

Qatar

100%

Masaken Al Saylia Al Mesaimer S.P.C.

Qatar

100%

Gudran Company S.P.C

Qatar

100%

Guidance Hotel Investment Company B.S.C.C.
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- Limit the accounting policy choice to measure non-controlling interests on initial recognition at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets to instruments that give rise to a present ownership interest and that currently
entitle the holder to a share of net assets in the event of liquidation; and

a) Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

- Expand the current guidance on the attribution of the market-based measure of an acquirer’s share-based payment awards issued in
exchange for acquiree awards between consideration transferred and post-combination compensation cost when an acquirer is obliged to
replace the acquiree’s existing awards to encompass voluntarily replaced unexpired acquiree awards.

b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following that are measured at fair value:
• Investment property.

IAS 27 (amendment) ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The amendments clarify that the consequential amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, IAS 28 Investments

• Available-for-sale financial assets.

in Associates and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures resulting from IAS 27 (2008) should be applied prospectively, with the exception of

• Derivative financial instruments.

amendments resulting from renumbering.

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in Note 39.
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
c) Functional and presentation currency

The amendments clarify that disaggregation of changes in each component of equity arising from transactions recognised in other

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Qatari Riyals, which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial information

comprehensive income also is required to be presented, but may be presented either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes.

presented in Qatari Riyals has been rounded to the nearest thousand except otherwise indicated.
IFRS 7 (amendment) ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’
d) Use of estimates and judgments

The amendments add an explicit statement that qualitative disclosure should be made in the context of the quantitative disclosures to better

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and

enable users to evaluate an entity’s exposure to risks arising from financial instruments. In addition, the IASB amended and removed existing

assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual

disclosure requirements.

results may differ from these estimates.
		

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in
which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

The significant accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial
statements, except as explained in Note 2-e, which addresses changes in accounting policies. Certain comparative amounts have been

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the

reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements is included in Note 40.
3.1)		 Basis of consolidation
e) Changes in accounting policies

a) Subsidiaries

New standards, amendments and interpretations effective from 1 January 2011

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements

The following standards and amendments which became effective 1 January 2011, are relevant to the Group:

from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

IAS 24 (Revised) ‘Related party disclosures’

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group. Losses

The revised standard was issued in November 2009. The revised standard clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party and removes the

applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling

requirement for government-related entities to disclose details of all transactions with the government and other government-related entities.

interests to have a deficit balance.

Improvements to IFRSs (2010)

b) Special purpose entities

Improvements to IFRS issued in 2010 contained numerous amendments to IFRS that the IASB considers non-urgent but necessary.

The Group has establishes special purpose entities (SPEs) for trading and investment purposes. The Group does not have any direct or indirect

‘Improvements to IFRS’ comprise amendments that result in accounting changes to presentation, recognition or measurement purposes,

shareholdings in these entities. An SPE is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with the Group and the

as well as terminology or editorial amendments related to a variety of individual IFRS standards. There were no significant changes to the current

SPE’s risks and rewards, the Group concludes that it controls the SPE. SPEs controlled by the Group were established under terms that impose

accounting policies of the Group as a result of these amendments.

strict limitations on the decision-making powers of the SPEs’ management and that result in the Group receiving the majority of the benefits
related to the SPEs’ operations and net assets, being exposed to the majority of risks incident to the SPEs’ activities, and retaining the majority

IFRS 3 (amendment) ‘Business Combinations’

of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPEs or their assets.

The amendments:
- Clarify that contingent consideration arising in a business combination previously accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 (2004) that remains
outstanding at the adoption date of IFRS 3 (2008) continues to be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 (2004);

c) Loss of control
Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other
components of equity related to the subsidiary.
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Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency translation reserve

such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an

(translation reserve) in equity. However, if the operation is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation

available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

difference is allocated to the non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the

d) Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities (equity-accounted investees)

gain or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. Significant

control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only part of

influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting power of another entity. Joint ventures are those

its investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a foreign operation while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant

entities over whose activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement and requiring unanimous consent for strategic

proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

financial and operating decisions.
When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future,
Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method (equity-accounted investees) and are

foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and

recognised initially at cost. The cost of the investment includes transaction costs. The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s

are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the translation reserve in equity.

share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the
date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases.

3.3)		 Revenue recognition

Sale of properties
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest, including any long-

Revenue from the sale of properties is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognized when the

term investments, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation

significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs can

or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

be estimated reliably, there is no continuing involvement with the transferred property, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

e) Acquisitions of non-controlling interests

Transfers of risks and rewards vary depending on the individual terms of the sale contract of property, however and in the lack of other

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is

contractual determinants, it is presumed that risks and rewards are transferred to the buyer upon transfer of possession of the sold property.

recognized on such transactions. Adjustments to non-controlling interests arising from transactions that do not involve the loss of control are
based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary.

When the Group is contractually required to perform further work on real estate already delivered to the buyer, the Group recognizes a provision
and expense for the present value of the expenditures required to settle its obligations under such contract.

f)

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in

Rental income

preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated

Rental income is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an

against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains,

integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease.

but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Dividend income
3.2)		 Foreign currency

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive the dividend is established.

a) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the

Management income

transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency

Management income is recognized based on the terms and conditions of the relevant management agreements concluded with external parties

at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional

to the Group.

currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective profit and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

Consulting revenues
Consulting revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency

reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received excluding discounts, rebates and duty. The specific

at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of

recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized.

historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are
recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity investments which are recognised in

3.4)		 Trading properties

other comprehensive income.

Trading properties are real estate properties (including non-developed plots of land) developed which are readily available for sale and those
properties under development which are in construction phase. These are held for sale in the ordinary course of business are carried at the lower

b) Foreign operations

of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to Qatari

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Cost of trading properties is determined on the basis of specific identification of

Riyals at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations, excluding foreign operations in hyperinflationary

their individual costs.

economies, are translated to Qatari Riyals at the average exchange rates during the reporting period.
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The estimated useful lives of the depreciable assets are as follows:

Investment properties are properties which are held either to earn rental income, including those under development, or for capital appreciation
or for both are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at

Buildings 					

20 years

fair value. The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of

Furniture and fixtures 			

3-7 years

valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted

Motor vehicles				

5 years

knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. Valuations reflect, where appropriate; the type of tenants actually in occupation or responsible

Computers software and hardware		

3-5 years

for meeting lease commitments or likely to be in occupation after letting of vacant accommodation and the market’s general perception of their

Office equipment				

3 years

credit-worthiness; the allocation of maintenance and insurance responsibilities between lessor and lessee; and the remaining economic life of the

Leasehold improvements			

3 years

property. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognized in the profit or loss.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.
Property that is being constructed for future use as investment property is accounted for as investment property under the fair value model.
Property under construction is designated as investment property only if there are unambiguous plans by management to subsequently utilize

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying

the property for rental activities upon completion of development, or if there is undetermined future use of the property and hence the property is

value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets

held for long term capital appreciation.

are written down to their recoverable amount.

Transfers between property categories

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for separately is capitalized and

Transfers to, or from, investment property shall be made when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by:

the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Other subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases future
economic benefits of the related item of property, plant and equipment. All other expenditure is recognized in the profit or loss as the expense is

(a) commencement of owner-occupation, for a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property;

incurred. An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognized.

(b) commencement of development with an intention to sale, for a transfer from investment property to trading properties;
3.7)		 Financial instruments
(c) end of owner-occupation, for a transfer from owner-occupied property to investment property;

(i) Non-derivative financial assets
The Group initially recognises financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) on the trade date, which is the date

(d) commencement of an operating lease to another party, for a transfer from trading properties to investment property.

that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is remeasured to fair value and reclassified

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive

as investment property. Any gain arising on remeasurement is recognised directly in equity as a revaluation surplus. Any loss is recognised

the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset

immediately in profit or loss.

are transferred. Any profit in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied property or trading properties, the property’s deemed cost for

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when, and only

subsequent accounting in accordance with IAS 16 or IAS 2 shall be its fair value at the date of change in use.

when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

For a transfer from trading properties to investment property that will be carried at fair value, any difference between the fair value of the property
at that date and its previous carrying amount shall be recognized in profit or loss.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, trade and
other receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.

3.6)		 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is designated as such upon initial

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of

recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the Group manages such investments and makes purchase

materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of

and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy. Attributable

dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the

transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value,

related equipment is capitalized as part of related computers.

and changes therein are recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and

Trade and other receivables

equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group

Trade and other receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are

will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land, if any, is not depreciated.

recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other receivables are
measured at amortised cost using the effective profit method, less any impairment losses.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Repurchase, disposal and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly attributable costs, net

maturities of three months or less. unrestricted balances held with banks, and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of less than

of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented in its own

three months, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term

equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting

commitments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts and restricted bank balances. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the

surplus or deficit on the transaction is presented in share premium.

consolidated statement of financial position.

(iv) Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting
Available-for-sale financial assets

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the

Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognized as described below for those

above categories of financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment

derivative instruments designated for hedging cash flows, while changes in the fair value of derivative instruments not designated for cash flow

losses and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale debt instruments, are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the

hedges are recognized in profit or loss.

fair value reserve in equity. When an investment is derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges
Unquoted equity and debt securities are carried at cost as reliable fair value cannot be ascertained, subject to impairment testing.

Changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument designated as a cash flow hedge are recognised directly in equity to the extent that
the hedge is effective. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise equities and debt securities.
If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expired or is sold, terminated or exercised, then hedge accounting

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity remains there until the forecast transaction occurs.

The Group initially recognises financial liabilities on the date that they are originated which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the

When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, if any, the amount recognised in equity is transferred to the carrying amount of the asset when it

contractual provisions of the instrument.

is recognised. In other cases the amount recognised in equity is transferred to profit or loss in the same period that the hedged item affects profit
or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.
3.8) Impairment
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when, and only

Financial assets

when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is

simultaneously.

considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows
of that asset. All impairment losses are recognized in the profit or loss. Any cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities are recognised initially

recognized previously in equity is transferred to the profit or loss.

at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised
cost using the effective profit method. Other financial liabilities comprise obligations under Islamic finance contracts, due to related parties, bank
overdrafts, and trade and other payables.

a) For assets carried at fair value, impairment is the difference between cost and fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in
profit or loss;
b) For assets carried at cost, impairment is the difference between carrying value and the present value of future cash flows discounted at the

Fair value measurement
When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active market for that instrument. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an

current market rate of return for a similar financial asset;
c) For assets carried at amortised cost, impairment is the difference between carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective finance profit rate.

arm’s length basis. If market for a financial instrument is not active, the Group establishes fair value using a valuation technique. Valuation

d) Significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis.

techniques include using recent arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), discounted cash flow analyses

e) The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

and other valuation models with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments.
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. For

Amortised cost measurement

financial assets measured at amortized cost and available-for-sale financial assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognized in profit or

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial recognition, minus

loss. For available-for-sale financial assets that are equity securities, the reversal is recognized directly in equity.

principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective profit method of any difference between the initial amount
recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment. The calculation of the effective profit rate includes all fees and points

Non-financial assets

paid or received that are an integral part of the effective profit rate, transaction cost and all other premiums and discounts.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-

(iii) Share capital

generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are

Ordinary shares

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from

specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash

equity, net of any tax effects.

inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”).
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An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

3.12) Leased assets

Impairment losses are recognized in the profit or loss.

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Upon initial
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recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to

Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. Leases where the

the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. Impairment losses recognized

lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases, and are not recognized in the

in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is

Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if

3.13) Employees’ end of service benefits

no impairment loss had been recognized.

The Group provides end of service benefits to its expatriate employees in accordance with Qatar labor law. The entitlement to these benefits is
based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of minimum service period. The expected costs of these

3.9) Borrowing costs

benefits are accrued over the period of employment.

Borrowing costs are finance cost and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. A qualifying asset for finance
cost capitalization is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. The Group capitalizes

With respect to its national employees, the Group makes contributions to the General Pension Fund Authority calculated as a percentage of the

borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset.

employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.

The Group recognizes other borrowing costs as an expense in the period incurred.
3.14) Fair values
The Group begins capitalizing borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset on the commencement date. The commencement date for

The fair value is the estimated amount for which assets could reasonably be exchanged for on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and

capitalization is the date when the Group first meets all of the following conditions:

a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction wherein the buyer and seller has each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

(a) incurs expenditures for the asset;

3.15) Income tax

(b) incurs borrowing costs; and

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to

(c) undertakes activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.

items recognized directly in equity, if any, in which case it is recognized in equity.

To the extent that the Group borrows funds specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the Group determines the amount of

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date,

borrowing costs eligible for capitalization as the actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing during the period less any investment income

and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

on the temporary investment of those borrowings, if any.
Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
The borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the period, other than those specific borrowings

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

mentioned above as made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualified asset, are capitalized by applying a capitalization rate to the
expenditures on that asset.

Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly

The amount of borrowing costs that the Group capitalizes during the period is not to exceed the amount of borrowing costs it incurred during

controlled entities, if any, to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not

that period. The Group suspends capitalization of borrowing costs during extended periods in which it suspends active development of a

recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

qualifying asset, and ceases capitalizing borrowing costs when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are complete.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to

3.10) Obligations under Islamic financing contracts

offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax

Obligations under Islamic financing contracts are recognized initially at fair value of the consideration received, less directly attributable

entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, those obligations are measured at amortized cost using the effective profit rate method.
3.16) Goodwill
Gains or losses are recognized in the profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the amortization process. Finance cost

Goodwill arises upon the acquisition of subsidiary. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of associates,

and other related charges are recognized as an expense when incurred.

the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, and an impairment loss on such an investment is not
allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the equity-accounted investee.

3.11) Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and

3.17) Earnings per share

it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss

future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS
is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees, if any.
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3.18) Segment reporting

IFRS 7 (amendment) ‘Disclosures: Transfer of financial assets’

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses,

The amendments to IFRS 7 introduce new disclosure requirements about transfers of financial assets including disclosures for financial assets

including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components, whose operating results are reviewed

that are not derecognised in their entirety; and financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety but for which the entity retains continuing

regularly by the Group’s Top Management (being the chief operating decision maker) to make decisions about resources allocated to each

involvement. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011, but entities are not required to provide the

segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

disclosures for any period presented that begins before the date of initial application of the amendments. Early adoption is permitted.

3.19) Government grants

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

Unconditional government grant related to income are recognised in profit or loss at the fair value when the grant becomes receivable.

Standard issued November 2009
IFRS 9 (2009) ‘Financial Instruments’ is the first standard issued as part of a wider project to replace IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments: recognition

Other government grants are recognised initially as deferred income when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the

and measurement’. IFRS 9 (2009) retains and simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes two primary measurement categories

Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in

for financial assets: amortised cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash

profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are recognised. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of

flow characteristics of the financial asset. The guidance in IAS 39 on impairment and hedge accounting continues to apply. The 2009 standard

a depreciable asset are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset, while grants compensating the Group

did not address financial liabilities.

for assets under development are directly deducted from the carrying amount of the related asset. Government Grant related to non monetary
assets are initially recognized at nominal amount.

Standard issued October 2010
IFRS 9 (2010) adds the requirements related to the classification and measurement of financial liabilities, and de-recognition of financial assets

3.20) Assets held for sale

and liabilities to the version issued in November 2009. It also includes those paragraphs of IAS 39 dealing with how to measure fair value and

Assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction, not

accounting for derivatives embedded in a contract that contains a host that is not a financial asset, as well as the requirements of IFRIC 9

through continuing use. These assets may be a component of an entity, a disposal group or an individual non-current asset.

“reassessment of Embedded Derivatives”.

Assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The Group has

The Company is considering the implications of the standard, the impact on the Company and timing of its adoption by the Company.

classified all the assets and liabilities of its subsidiary ‘Marafeq Qatar Company W.L.L’, a limited liability company incorporated in Qatar, as held
for sale. The details of assets and liabilities held for sale are given in Note 7 to these consolidated financial statements.

While adoption of IFRS 9 is mandatory from 1 January 2013, earlier adoption is permitted. Prior periods need not be restated if an entity adopts
the standard for reporting periods beginning before 1 January 2012. In its November 2011 meeting, the IASB tentatively decided to defer the

3.21) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective

mandatory effective date to 1 January 2015.

The following standards and interpretations have been issued and are expected to be relevant to the Group in future periods, with effective dates
on or after 1 January 2012.

IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated financial statements and IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (2011)’
IFRS 10 introduces a new approach to determining which investees should be consolidated and provides a single model to be applied in the

IAS 1 (amendment) ‘Presentation of items of other comprehensive income’

control analysis for all investees. An investor controls an investee when; it is exposed or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with

The amendments to IAS 1 require that an entity present separately the items of other comprehensive income that would be reclassified to

that investee; it has the ability to affect those returns through its power over that investee; and there is a link between power and returns. Control

consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the future if certain conditions are met from those that would never be reclassified to

is reassessed as facts and circumstances change.

consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 with an
option of early application.

IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27 (2008) and SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities. The Company is yet to assess IFRS 10’s full impact.
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Early adoption is permitted provided that the entire suite of

IAS 28 (2011) ‘Investment in Associates and Joint ventures’

consolidation standards is adopted at the same time. IFRS 10 is applied retrospectively when there is a change in the control conclusion between

IAS 28 (2011) supersedes IAS 28 (2008). IAS 28 (2011) has been amended to include:

IAS 27/SIC-12 and IFRS 10. IAS 27 (2011) supersedes IAS 27 (2008). IAS 27 (2011) carries forward the existing accounting and disclosure
requirements for separate financial statements, with some minor clarifications.

• IFRS 5 applies to an investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate or a joint venture that meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale; and

IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’
IFRS 11 focuses on the rights and obligations of joint arrangements, rather than the legal form (as is currently the case). It distinguishes joint

• on cessation of significant influence or joint control, even if an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice
versa, the entity does not remeasure the retained interest.

arrangements between joint operations and joint ventures;
and always requires the equity method for jointly controlled entities that are now called joint ventures; they are stripped of the free choice of using
the equity method or proportionate consolidation.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and is applied retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted
provided that the entire suite of consolidation standards is adopted at the same time.

IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities—Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. The Company is yet to assess
IFRS 11’s full impact. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Early adoption
is permitted provided that the entire suite of consolidation standards is all adopted at the same time.
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IFRS 12 ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities’

For risk management reporting purposes, the Group considers and consolidates all elements of credit risk exposure (such as individual obligor

IFRS 12 contains the disclosure requirements for entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements (i.e. joint operations or joint

default risk, country and sector risk).

ventures), associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities, aiming to provide information to enable users to evaluate the nature of, and risks
associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities; and the effects of those interests on the entity’s financial position, financial performance

Advances, receivables and related parties

and cash flows.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each contractor/customer. The demographics of the
Group’s project/customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country, in which customers operate, has less of an influence on

The Company is yet to assess IFRS 12’s full impact. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Early

credit risk. Material amounts of the Group’s advances/collections are attributable to contractors/customers originating from the State of Qatar.

adoption is permitted provided that the entire suite is adopted at the same time. Entities are encouraged to provide information required by
IFRS 12 before the effective date, but this early disclosure would not compel the entity to apply either IFRS 12 in its entirety or the other new

The Group’s policy is that advances, receivables and related parties are stated at original paid advance / invoice amount less a provision for any

consolidation standards.

uncollectible amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off
when there is no possibility of recovery, if any.

IFRS 13 ‘Fair value measurement’
IFRS 13 replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRSs with a single source of fair value measurement guidance.

Guarantees

It defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements.

The Group’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to its subsidiaries. Outstanding guarantees to the Group are disclosed in Note 36.

It explains how to measure fair value when it is required or permitted by other IFRSs. It does not introduce new requirements to measure assets
or liabilities at fair value, nor does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair value measurements that currently exist in certain standards.

Bank Balances
Credit risk on bank balances is limited as they are placed with local and foreign banks having good credit ratings assigned by international credit

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with an option of early adoption.

rating agencies.

Early adoption of standards

Investment securities

The Group did not early adopt new or amended standards/interpretations in 2011.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for investment securities at the reporting date was equal to the carrying amount of debt securities
as disclosed in Note 9 of these consolidated financial statements.

4.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Other financial assets

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

The maximum exposure to credit risk for certain other financial assets (including due from related parties, security deposit and etc.) at the
reporting date was equal to the amounts disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(i) Credit risk;
(ii) Liquidity risk; and

Write-off

(iii) Market risk.

The Group writes off receivables and balances from financing (and any related allowances for impairment) when the management determines that
the receivables and balances are uncollectible. This is determined after all possible efforts of collecting the amounts have been exhausted.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for
measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these

(ii) Liquidity risk

consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled
by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have

Risk management framework

sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls,

damage to the Group’s reputation.

and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions,
products and services offered. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and

The Group uses project-based costing to cost its properties and services, which assists it in monitoring cash flow requirements and optimising

constructive control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

its cash return on investments. Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses,
including the servicing of financial obligations, this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted,

The Group’s Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures, and for

such as natural disasters.

reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Group Audit Committee is assisted
in these functions by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the

(iii) Market risk

results of which are reported to the Group Audit Committee. The Group subsidiaries follow the Group risk management policies..

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as profit rates, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to
changes in the obligor’s / issuer’s credit standing) will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective

(i) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations,
and arises principally from the Group’s advances to acquire investments, advances to contractors, due from related parties, debt securities
Group’s financing activities and receivables from customers.

of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.
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6.

(a) Currency risk

49

TRADING PROPERTIES

The Group is exposed to currency risk on transactions with related parties and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the
respective functional currency, mainly EURO, EGP, CHF, USD, and GBP.
The Group’s management enters into financial instruments for securing its position against the fluctuations in different foreign currencies using a base
currency of USD that is pegged to Qatari Riyal.

Properties available for sale
Property under development

2011

2010

584,949

104,732

37,685,324

31,589,780

38,270,273

31,694,512

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the forward deals entered into by the Group ensures

Property under development represents capitalized costs relating to the Group’s local and international real estate development projects.

that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary to address short-term

Movements in the property under development during the year were as follows:

imbalances.
(b) Profit rate risk

At 1 January

The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that profit rates on Islamic financing contracts are reviewed quarterly, and that finance cost rates are not

Net additions during the year

subject to present fluctuations.

In kind contribution
Capitalised finance costs (Note i)

2011

2010

31,589,780

14,580,281

4,578,405

21,218,051

21,252

467,232

554,446

523,009

-

(278,677)
(475,110)

(c) Equity price risk

Sold during the year

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equity securities decreases as the result of adverse changes in equity prices or indices, or fair

Transferred to finance lease receivable (Note 10)

(1,467,521)

value in the case of unquoted equities. Equity price risk arises from Group’s investment portfolio. The Group conducts significant investment

Transferred from investment properties (Note 13)

2,007,134

-

activity in private equity, mainly in unquoted entities. The Group manages this risk through diversification of its investments in terms of

Transferred to investment properties (Note 13)

(290,904)

(1,703,233)

geographical distribution and industry concentration and by arranging representation on the Board of Directors within the investee company,

Transferred to properties available for sale

(480,217)

-

wherever possible. Investments are managed within maximum concentration risk limits, approved by the Board of Directors of the Group.

Transferred from / (to) property, plant and equipment (Note 16)
Impairment (loss)/ reversals, net (Note ii & iii) & (Note 32)

Capital management

Translation adjustment

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future

31 December

(120,587)

(57,865)

1,236,333

(2,386,149)

57,203

(297,759)

37,685,324

31,589,780

development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as net operating income divided
by total shareholders’ equity, excluding minority interests. The Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

Government Grant and recognized at a nominal amount of QR 1 for each plot of land. Earlier these plots of land were leased to the Group for 99

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

years and as a result of transfer of ownership the lease contracts are terminated.

• to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits

Note i:

for other stakeholders; and

Capitalized finance cost is calculated based on the actual qualifying expenditures related to the property under development. Finance cost is

• to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.

5.

capitalized using the Group’s weighted average finance profit rate of 3.6 % (2010: 6%).

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Note ii:
The Group undertook impairment testing exercise of the cost of its property under development at year end. Cash generating units used for

2011

2010

269

23,521

Current accounts

316,067

999,343

Call accounts

470,179

3,213,878

1,838,407

6,654,029

Cash

Fixed deposits
Margin deposits

1,463

34,111

Reserve account with Qatar Central Bank

-

126,525

Wakala placements with Islamic banks

-

1,931,738

2,626,385

12,983,145

(1,463)

(160,636)

2,624,922

12,822,509

Total cash and bank balances
Less: restricted bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents

During the year 2011, certain plots of land ownership were transferred to the Group by Qatari Government. The transfer was considered as a

the impairment testing were determined for each project. Local and foreign accredited property appraisers were engaged to provide relevant
commercial and marketing input to this process and to advise on current market trends in areas such as achievable market prices. The
impairment exercise revealed that the fair values less costs to sell being the recoverable amounts were lower than the carrying amounts of some
of the projects.

Note iii:
As at 31 December 2011, based on the estimation of net realizable value it was noticed that the value of one of the property under development
has improved. As a result impairment losses booked in earlier years amounting to QR 1,876,446 thousand has been reversed during the year.
Additionally there are certain other property under development where the net realizable value have declined below cost therefore an impairment
loss of QR 640,113 thousand has been recognized and disclosed as net of reversals.
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2010

Non-current

Current

Total

Trade receivables

129,268

257,450

386,718

On 30 June 2011, the Group acquired control over Marafeq Qatar Company W.L.L. (“Marafeq”) by increasing stake in the Company to 74% from

Prepaid expenses

-

174,719

174,719

25%. However, later the Group decided to dispose off the investment in Marafeq. A potential buyer has been identified and the negotiations are

Other receivables

-

49,234

49,234

at advance stage. Hence, the assets and liabilities of Marafeq have been classified as held for sale and measured at lower of its carrying amount

Dividends and profit on Islamic deposits receivable

-

80,940

80,940

18,424

-

18,424

and fair value less cost to sell. The details of assets and liabilities are as follows:

Refundable deposits
Carrying amounts

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

16,832

Receivables and prepayments

555

Due from related parties

23,771

Goodwill (Note 15)

13,992

Total assets

55,150

Accrued income

-

-

-

Staff receivables

-

26,186

26,186

Due from customers under Islamic financing

727,569

1,266,213

1,993,782

Receivables under escrow accounts

-

32,520

32,520

Withholding and value added taxes

-

17,379

17,379

Provision for doubtful debt

-

(2,129)

(2,129)

875,261

1,902,512

2,777,773

2011

2010

Quoted

105,013

224,915

Unquoted

357,609

983,057

Liabilities
Payables and accruals

62,939

Total liabilities

62,939

9.

AVAILABLE–FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

The details of the available-for-sale financial assets are as follows:
The net results from the subsidiary held for sale is as follows:
From 30 June 2011 to
31 December 2011
Revenue from services

72,277

Operating expenses

(57,667)

General and administrative expenses

(4,534)

Profit from subsidiary held for sale

10,076

Investments in equity securities

Investments in debt securities
Quoted
Unquoted

8.

RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

-

278,168

2,578,971

1,250,000

3,041,593

2,736,140

Investment in equity securities are stated net of impairment losses for the year amounting to QR 101,609 thousand (2010: QR 101,524 thousand)

2011

Non-current

Current

Total

Trade receivables

-

564,376

564,376

Prepaid expenses

-

280,968

280,968

Other receivables

-

136,782

136,782

Dividends and profit on Islamic deposits receivable

-

40,052

40,052

18,382

-

18,382

-

16,215

16,215

Refundable deposits
Accrued income

(Note 32).

10. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
Contractual maturities of the finance lease receivables are as follows:

Less than one year

2011

2010

619,468

354,622

Staff receivables

-

10,287

10,287

Due from customers under Islamic financing

-

-

-

Between 1 and 5 years

2,414,380

1,376,071

1,815,912

1,011,026

4,849,760

2,741,719

Receivables under escrow accounts

-

-

-

More than 5 years

Withholding and value added taxes

-

-

-

Gross receivables from finance lease

Provision for doubtful debt

18,382

(8,093)
1,040,587

(8,093)
1,058,969

Unearned finance lease income
Net finance lease receivable

(1,793,326)

(935,078)

3,056,434

1,806,641
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2011

2010

Balance at 1 January

1,806,641

1,463,540

Transferred from trading properties (Note 6)

1,467,521

475,110

Installments due and collected during the year

(436,818)

(146,943)

Installments due and unpaid, transferred to trade receivables

(121,480)

(127,695)

340,570

142,629

3,056,434

1,806,641

At 31 December

In thousands of Qatari Riyals

12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Movement in finance lease receivables during the year is as follows:

Finance lease income (Note 33)

53

The above balances relates to the Group’s 100% owned subsidiary Qatar Real Estate Investment Company P.Q.S.C. (Al Aqaria). The minimum
lease receipts are discounted at the implicit rates as mentioned in the lease agreements. Income from finance leases is recognized

The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Qatari Diar Real Estate Investment Company Q.S.C. (“Qatari Diar”), a 45% owner in the Group.
a) Due from related parties

2011

Non-current

Current

Total

88,019

27,826

115,845

2,359

-

2,359

-

-

-

56,292

23,987

80,279

-

32,288

32,288

146,670

84,101

230,771

Non-current

Current

Total

9,076

17,693

26,769

Non-controlling interest

97,445

-

97,445

Key management personnel

46,596

-

46,596

-

11,360

11,360

Associate entities
Non-controlling interest
Key management personnel
Affiliated entities

based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment in the finance lease.

Other related parties

Finance lease receivables are unsecured. Included in the gross finance lease receivables an amount of QR 1,505 million pledged as security
against the USD 270 million Sukuk Al Musharakah. (2010: USD 270 million)
2010

Approximately 81% (2010: 94%) of the total finance lease receivables balance as at 31 December 2011 is due from a single customer.

Associate entities

11. ADVANCES FOR PROJECTS AND INVESTMENTS

2011

2010

795,756

1,641,919

34,952

129,408

Advances for purchase of property

2,510,899

2,193,474

Advances against exchange of land (Note i)

1,836,459

1,836,459

-

727,722

Advances to subcontractors and suppliers
Advances for purchase of investments

Refundable advances
Less: provision for impairment of advances (Note i)

5,178,066

6,528,982

(2,317,030)

(480,571)

2,861,036

6,048,411

Note i:
During the year 2008, the Government of Qatar took over a piece of land located in Al-Khour district which was owned by the Group and other
related parties. The Government committed to provide another plot of land located in Salwa district in exchange of the withdrawn land. The

Affiliated entities
Other related parties

4,164

-

4,164

157,281

29,053

186,334

Non-current

Current

Total

b) Due to related parties

2011

15,701,606

-

15,701,606

Associate entities

Qatari Diar (Note i)

794,822

36,557

831,379

Non-controlling interests

264,105

3,213

267,318

5,006

17,535

22,541

16,765,539

57,305

16,822,844

Other related parties

Group paid the above advances to participate in ownership of the land taken over by the Government in order for the Group to fully own the
new land to be received from the Government. Since the year 2008, the Group management has been working with the Government authorities
to identify the plot of land that shall be transferred to the Group. However, all the efforts during this period have not resulted in any conclusive

2010

direction of when and where the land will be received and therefore the Group management, on a conservative basis decided to make a full

Qatari Diar (Note i)

provision against these advances amounting to QR 1,836 million as doubtful of recovery (Note 32). The Group will continue to pursue the matter
with the Government for an amicable settlement.

Non-current

Current

Total

14,487,105

5,460,000

19,947,105

Associate entities

245,311

3,559,034

3,804,345

Non-controlling interests

140,379

8,845

149,224

-

6,580

6,580

14,872,795

9,034,459

23,907,254

Other related parties

Note i:
The Group has obtained Islamic finance – Murabha for the purpose of various activities of the Group. The Murabha carries fixed and variable
profit rates. The Islamic finance is non-secured. The facilities are payable in tranches starting from 1st July 2013.
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c) Compensation of key management personnel
Board of directors’ remuneration (Parent)
Total key management staff benefits (Group basis)
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Valuations reflect, when appropriate, the type of tenants actually in occupation or responsible for meeting lease commitments or likely to be in

2011

2010

occupation after letting vacant accommodation, and the market’s general perception of their creditworthiness; the allocation of maintenance

9,000

1,500

and insurance responsibilities between the Group and the lessee; and the remaining economic life of the property. When rent reviews or lease

30,358

67,002

39,358

68,502

renewals are pending with anticipated increases, it is assumed that all notices, and when appropriate counter-notices, have been served validly
and within the appropriate time.

Note ii:
d) Related party transactions recognised in profit or loss

Capitalized finance cost is calculated based on the actual qualifying expenditures related to the projects under development, that is part of the

2011

2010

43,789

-

101,683

129,797

Sublease income

16,880

4,635

Finance cost

61,638

400,013

2011

2010

Gain on sale of assets to associated company
Income from consultancy

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
At 1 January
Addition during the year, net
Transfer from trading properties (Note 6)
Transfer to trading properties (Note 6)
Capitalized finance costs (Note ii)
Sold during the year
Government grant related to projects costs
Gain on remeasurement of investment properties, net (Note i)
Translation adjustments

investment properties. Finance cost is capitalized using the Group’s weighted average finance cost rate of 3.6% (2010: 6%).

Note iii:
Included in investment properties an amount of QR 576 million is mortgaged against non-recourse obligation under Islamic finance contract.

14. INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES
a) The names, country of incorporation and the related investment balances in equity accounted investees are as follows:

Ownership

2011

Barwa Bank Q.S.C. – Qatar (Note i)

38%

979,200

-

Nuzul Holding Company B.S.C.C. – Bahrain

39%

26,161

165,955

Panceltica Holding Limited – UK (Note ii)

26%

200,935

200,935

Marafeq Qatar Company W.L.L. – Qatar (Note 7)

25%

-

1,464

Al Imtiaz Investment Company – Kuwait

25%

350,385

325,721

Emdad Leasing Equipment Company – Qatar

22%

22,699

62,806

Al Damaan Islamic Insurance Company – Qatar

20%

41,202

40,269

Smeet Investment Company W.L.L.- Qatar

44%

217,861

272,050

Asas Real Estate Company W.L.L.- Qatar (Note 42)

50%

1,275,919

933,702

Fareej Real Estate Company C.Q.S.C. – Qatar

33%

-

135,469

Beaucraft W.L.L. – Qatar

35%

-

361

Regency Residential UK Limited – UK

50%

14,079

13,318

Bin Laden Group (QD – CPC)-Qatar

22%

41,284

-

Bin Laden Group (QD – SBG)- Qatar

22%

20,024

-

Tanween Company W.L.L.- Qatar (Note 28)

40%

110,054

-

Bait Al Mashura Financial Consulting Company– Qatar

20%

455

-

Lusail Golf Development Company – Qatar

50%

5,000

-

Ottomon Gayrimenkul A.S. – Turkey

50%

77,968

-

3,383,226

2,152,050

(200,935)

(200,935)

3,182,291

1,951,115

12,584,160

5,799,670

Name of investee and country of incorporation

1,354,655

6,801,520

290,904

1,703,233

(2,007,134)

-

18,046

86,336

(2,629,815)

(2,005,746)

-

(124,000)

1,097,969

376,123

(45,839)

(52,976)

10,662,946

12,584,160

During the year 2011, certain plots of land ownership were transferred to the Group by Qatari Government. The transfer was considered as a
Government Grant and recognized at a nominal amount of QR 1 for each plot of land. Earlier these plots of land were leased to the Group for 99
years and as a result of transfer of ownership the lease contracts are terminated.

Note i:
Investment properties are measured at fair value as determined by independent accredited appraisers for the local and foreign investment
properties. Fair value is determined having regard to the location, space, future economy of the area compared with other areas as well as
current Qatari and foreign market prices for transactions in similar properties in the same locations.
Appraisers are external and independent valuation specialists, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in

Less: provision for impairment (Note ii)

the location and category of property being valued. The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property

2010

could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing
wherein each party had acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

Note i:
On 5 April 2011, the Group lost de facto control over Barwa Bank Q.S.C. (“the Bank”) due to the change in composition of Board of Directors

In the absence of current prices in an active market, the valuations are based on the aggregate of the estimated cash flows expected to be

and key management personnel of the Bank. Therefore, the status of investment in the Bank has changed from subsidiary to an associate, the

received from renting the property. A yield that reflects the specific risks inherent in the net cash flows is applied to the net annual cash flows to

Group has significant influence on the Bank’s financial and operating policies as at 31 December 2011. Accordingly, the financial performance of

arrive at the property valuation.

the Bank was consolidated till the date the Group lost control and investment in the Bank is subsequently accounted for using equity method of
accounting. As the proportionate fair value of the Bank was determined to be equal to the carrying value of the investment in the Bank, this has
resulted in no gain or loss in change in status of the investment.
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Due to loss of control on the Bank, the Group has also lost control on the following subsidiaries of the Bank and therefore the Group has

2010

discontinued to consolidate these subsidiaries:

Name of investee

- The First Investor W.L.L.;
- First Leasing Company W.L.L.;
- First Finance Company P.Q.S.C.; and
- Bait Al Mashura Financial Consulting Company.
Note ii:
The Group management decided to fully impair the investment in Panceltica Holding Limited during prior periods based on the results of an
impairment exercise.

2011
Balance at 1 January
Increase in investment in associates
Transfer from advances
Unrealized profit on downstream / upstream sale to / from an associate
Transfer from / (to) subsidiaries due to change in control
Dividend received from associates
Share of results of investees
Disposal of associates
Other movements

Nuzul Holding Company B.S.C.C.
Al Imtiaz Investment Company
Barwa Al Khour Company W.L.L.*
Barwa Al Baraha Company W.L.L.*
Marafeq Qatar Company W.L.L
Asas Real Estate Company W.L.L. & Fareej Real
Estate Company C.Q.S.C.
Al Damaan Islamic Insurance Company
Smeet Investment Company W.L.L
Beaucraft W.L.L.
Ottomon Gayrimenkul A.S.

Total Assets
608,351
5,009,715
73,535

Total Liabilities
166,138
1,845,762
67,679

Total income
2,349
1,597,296
1,367

Share of results
1,358
141,313
48,636
(663)
(4,345)

2,092,455
221,647
589,623
355,982

89,744
18,440
14,953
372,783

41,655
13,826
39,601
33,303

29,702
(131)
2,048
(263)
(9,966)

Total

b) The movement on the investments in equity accounted investees during the year are represented as follows:
1,951,115
134,080
64,500
(49,937)
915,100
(36,208)
327,279
(129,760)
6,122

2010
1,854,047
1,376,986
(375,769)
(1,086,936)
(24,403)
217,655
(10,465)

3,182,291

1,951,115

57

207,689

* The status of ownership in these entities was changed from associate to subsidiary during the year 2010 and therefore, was consolidated thereafter.

15. GOODWILL
Details of the movement in goodwill balance during the year is as follows:
At 1 January
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries
Reclassified to assets of a subsidiary held for sale (Note 7)
Impairment loss (Note 32)

2011

2010

413,809

123,388

13,992

407,176

(13,992)

-

-

(118,341)
-

Equity accounted investees financial reporting is under IFRS and the year end is 31 December. Reconciliation to the share of net results from

Reclassified to investment in equity accounted investee

(125,097)

associates reported in the profit or loss is as follows:

Derecognized on sale of subsidiaries

(162,301)

-

-

1,586

126,411

413,809

2011
Share of net results of operations
Provision for excess losses from an associate
(Unrealized) / Realized profit on upstream sale

327,279
-

2010
217,655
(9,966)
(375,769)

327,279

(168,080)
The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations, being higher than fair value.
These calculations require the use of estimates (Note 40). During current year, no impairment loss is identified (2010: QR 118,341 thousand).

2011

Barwa Bank Q.S.C.
Nuzul Holding Company B.S.C.C.
Marafeq Qatar Company W.L.L.
Al Imtiaz Investment Company
Emdad Leasing Equipment Company
Al Damaan Islamic Insurance Company
Smeet Investment Company W.L.L.
Asas Real Estate Company W.L.L.
Regency Residential UK Limited
Bin Laden Group (QD – CPC)
Bin Laden Group (QD – SBG)
Tanween Company W.L.L.
Bait Al Mashura Financial Consulting Company
Lusail Golf Development Company
Ottomon Gayrimenkul A.S.
Total

Estimates used to measure recoverable amounts of cash-generating units containing goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 3.8.

The summarised financial statements of the equity accounted investees are as follows:

Name of investee

Translation adjustments

Total Assets
19,133,514
478,109
5,370,417
83,841
336,761
604,786
1,536,742
41,763
193,524
95,151
333,960
3,756
10,000
636,070

Total Liabilities
6,252,011
170,683
1,615,418
7,335
128,807
30,067
35,768
13,604
1,506
2,017
71,809
1,191
515,153

Total income
662,413
10,342
563,452
2,074
22,814
25,163
32,450
13,853
183
71
316,165
3,852
6,183

Share of results
62,394
(127,931)
(1,103)
87,688
(2,545)
934
21
339,269
770
(1,716)
(1,476)
19,306
(24)
(48,308)
327,279
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796,188

-

911,176

-

(346)

-

(1,369)

91,863

715,257

24,792

80,979

1,707,364

-

(15,598)

-

(2,960)

57,865

194,731

100,751

1,372,575

Total
2010

17. INCOME TAXES
Current and deferred tax expense represents amounts recognized by subsidiary companies. Deferred tax is recognized on differences between

-

taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all

30,101

554,160
6,143

945,641
703,321

1,474

-

(147)

(119,515)

(5,594)
(681)

(16,261)

99,127

58,973
670

9,191

-

911,176
710,549

1,499,801
709,464

-

(3,254)
(94)

(278)

(276,293)

(107,518)
(1,384)

(37,692)

120,587
-

58,915

-

8,262

740,650

Total
2011

1,707,364

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in computation of

Leasehold Projects in
improveprogress
ments

deductible temporary differences to the extent that future taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilized.

35,948

328,187
92,992
50,578

204,286
11,017

97,019
12,317
38,538

472

(130)
(11,398)

(111)
(25)

-

8,774

1,902

3,316

-

(2)

70,169
165,306

50,081

83,898
115,148
95,818

71,361
11,435
8,334

(101)

11,527
1

1,388
-

(1,012)
-

-

(43,630)

(128)
(2,028)

(1,156)
(28,135)

(52)
(971)

(7,910)
(3,104)
-

(722)

3,330

(19,319)

38,052

37,224
-

5,811
20,001

622
53

22,322
2,269
-

8,334

1,481

-

8,740

-

46,127
10,665

155,259

48,914
8,563
-

-

65,159
21,199

301,305
23,334
74,486
126,583
104,152

5,218

(744)

2,084
(86,645)

(42)
(68)

4,885
1

(2)
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(1,116)

(107)

Income taxes recognized in profit or loss:

2011

2010

(12,165)

(8,077)

101,702
89,537

15,163
7,086

Current
1,852,682
1,378,013
196,643
257,208
198,831
122,441
146,702
4,152,520

Total
1,852,682
1,378,013
676,100
421,277
257,208
198,831
122,441
26,790
146,702
5,080,044

Current tax expense
Current year

Deferred tax benefit
Deductible temporary differences
Net income tax for the year

Payables and accruals details segregated between non-current and current portions are as follows:

2011

(1,081)

91,379

Luxemburg (Deferred tax liabilities in 2010: QR 24,984 thousand).

18. PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(11,481)

(101,296)

(184)
(4,940)

(1,783)
(39,688)

(108)
(1,334)

(13,420)

(50,847)
(46,902)

(1,819)

(14,327)
(30,187)

(37,900)

(100)
1
92,189
28,497

-

-

8,099
2,653

-

12,760
533

-

-

4,711

-

21,897

.-

114,191
96,705
78,732
165,306

Land

Buildings Furniture and
Fixtures

98,995

19,439

Office
equipment
Motor
Computers
vehicles software and
hardware

393,346

Deferred tax assets amounting to QR 76,083 thousand in these consolidated financial statements relates to wholly owned subsidiary, Barwa

Clients advances and unearned income (Note i)
Subcontractors and suppliers
Deferred revenue for transfer of property
Retention payable
Provisions
Accrued expenses
Accrued finance cost
Employees end of services benefits
Other payables
Customer banking current accounts
Placements from financial institutions
Unrestricted investment accounts

Non-current
676,100
224,634
26,790
927,524

Note i:

31 December 2010

31 December 2011

Net carrying amount

At 31 December

Translation adjustment

Reclassifications

Disposals

Transfers during the year

Impairment losses (Note 32)

Charge for the year

Acquired through business
combinations

At 1 January

Accumulated depreciation

At 31 December

Translation adjustment

Reclassifications

Disposals

Transfers during the year

Transfer from / (to) trading
properties (Note 6)

Additions

Acquired through business
combinations

Cost

This includes an amount of QR 1,745 million received in advance by a subsidiary of the Group for construction and subsequent sale of the Project

At 1 January

In thousands of Qatari Riyals

In thousands of Qatari Riyals

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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2010
Clients advances and unearned income
Subcontractors and suppliers
Deferred revenue for transfer of property
Retention payable
Provisions
Accrued expenses
Accrued finance cost
Employees end of services benefits
Other payables
Customer banking current accounts
Placements from financial institutions
Unrestricted investment accounts

Non-current
676,100
490,068
128,501
52,154
188,216
1,535,039

Current
70,821
1,749,998
38,081
337,645
583,959
145,306
120,890
1,532,553
2,708,526
7,287,779

Total
70,821
1,749,998
676,100
490,068
38,081
337,645
712,460
52,154
145,306
120,890
1,720,769
2,708,526
8,822,818
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20. LIABILITIES FOR PURCHASE OF LAND
New Cairo land (Note i)
Al-Khour Land
Others

2011

2010

2,458,475

2,870,119

-

402,548

27,962

-

2,486,437

3,272,667

The balance is segregated between current and non-current at the reporting date as follows:
Current portion
Non-current portion

2011

2010

379,221

795,722

2,107,216

2,476,945

2,486,437

3,272,667

Note i:

19. LIABILITIES UNDER DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The balance relates to purchase of a piece of land located in New Cairo from the Egyptian Ministry of Housing and Building Development. The
balance is payable in instalments over several future years. The instalments falling due over next twelve months are disclosed as current portion.

a) Derivative instruments designated for cash flow hedges
One of the subsidiaries of the Group entered into Islamic profit rate swap agreements with several financial institutions to limit its exposure to

21. OBLIGATIONS UNDER ISLAMIC FINANCE CONTRACTS

profit rate fluctuations on its USD 270 million Sukuk Al Musharakah and USD 300 million Sukuk Al Mudarabah. The borrowings and related profit

a) The movements on the obligations under Islamic financing contracts during the year were as follows:

rate swaps have the same critical terms.
The fair values of the profit rate swaps designated for cash flow hedges are calculated by reference to the market valuation of the swap

At 1 January

agreements, and the cash flows hedge effectiveness is tested by the end of each reporting period. The fair values of those profit rate swaps

Assumed through business combinations

amounted to QR 17,565 thousand as at 31 December 2011 (2010: QR 52,626 thousand).

Additional facilities obtained during the year
Discharged by Government (Note i)

2011

2010

24,178,951

20,050,837

-

3,738,368

5,027,000

16,286,036

-

(4,300,000)

b) Derivative instruments not designated for hedges

Repayment during the year

(727,000)

(11,531,958)

The Parent had entered into certain derivative profit rate swap agreements with banks for a total notional amount of USD 2.3 billion to hedge its

Translation adjustment

(107,817)

(64,332)

profit rate risks on certain borrowings. However, due to early settlement of borrowings, the hedging relationship was terminated and therefore

At 31 December

28,371,134

24,178,951

currently these derivatives are carried under trading book.

Note i:

The fair values of those profit rate swaps amounted to QR 434,569 thousand as at 31 December 2011 (2010: QR 622,194 thousand), were
calculated by reference to the market valuation of the swap agreements, and the increase in fair value of the profit rate swaps was charged to the
profit or loss for the year as unrealized loss on derivative instruments. While the realized amounts charged to the profit or loss relating to those

During the year 2010, the Qatari Ministry of Economy and Finance approved a request provided by the Group to discharge the Group from
certain obligations under Islamic financing contracts provided by local Qatari banks and related incurred finance costs.

derivatives during the year is amounting to QR 95,639 thousand. (2010: 677,523 thousand)

The total discharged obligations and related compensated finance costs by the Government were amounting to QR 4,300 million including
income of QR 914,900 thousand for the year 2010.

c) Sensitivity analysis for derivative instruments

b) Contractual maturities of Obligations under Islamic finance contracts, that are measured at amortized cost are as follows:

A 50 basis points increase / (decrease) in the forward curve used in the calculation of derivative instruments fair value as at 31 December 2011,
would have increased / (decreased) consolidated equity and consolidated profit or loss by the amounts shown below:
Consolidated Equity / Profit or loss

2011
Derivatives designated for cash flow hedges
Non-designated derivatives for hedges
Cash flow sensitivity (net)

50 bp Increase
1,805
44,669
46,474

50 bp Decrease
(1,805)
(44,669)
(46,474)

2010
50 bp Increase
263,128
258,263
521,391

50 bp Decrease
(263,128)
(258,263)
(521,391)

2011
Unsecured facilities EURO
Secured facilities EURO (Note 13)
Unsecured facilities AED
Unsecured facilities USD
Secured facilities USD (Note 10)

1 year
862,906
514,876
879,000
122,800
2,379,582

2-5 years
943,480
24,188,072
860,000
25,991,552

Over 5 years
-

Total
943,480
862,906
514,876
25,067,072
982,800
28,371,134

4,864,964
2,092,137
24,178,951

2011
2010

3,891,336
3,891,336

3,891,246
3,891,246

All shares have equal rights except for one preferred share which is held by Qatari Diar that carries preferred rights over financial and operating

policies of the Group.

23. LEGAL RESERVE

In accordance with the requirements of the Qatar Commercial Companies Law No. 5 of 2002 and the Parent’s Articles of Association, a minimum

of 10% of the net profit should be transferred to a legal reserve each year until this reserve is equal to 50% of the paid up share capital. The

reserve is not available for distribution except in the circumstances stipulated in the above law and the Parent’s Articles of Association.

In accordance with the Parent’s articles of association, the premium on issue of share capital is added to general reserve. In addition, residual

annual profits, after the required transfer to legal reserve (Note 23), can be appropriated and transferred to general reserve based on the General

Assembly Meeting’s approval.
(124,106)
101,524
(22,582)
(22,582)
11,912

Available-for sale
financial assets fair
value reserve
34,494

Cash flow
hedge
reserve
(34,336)
(25,728)
74,362
48,634
48,634
14,298

(29,920)
11,163
(18,757)
(12,855)
(31,612)
(19,700)

(2,382)
37,443
35,061
35,061
49,359

(11,334)
(11,334)
(19,809)
(31,143)
(71,364)

(40,221)

Translation reserve

26,438
26,438
(31,811)
31,811
(34,266)
(7,828)
(79,192)

(71,364)

Translation reserve

(124,106)
101,524
(25,728)
74,362
(11,334)
14,718
(19,809)
(5,091)
(45,154)

(40,063)

Total
2010

(29,920)
11,163
(2,382)
37,443
26,438
42,742
(31,811)
31,811
(12,855)
(34,266)
(4,379)
(49,533)

(45,154)

Total
2011

Barwa Real Estate Company Q.S.C., Doha, Qatar

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets transferred to profit or loss
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations
Total other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income attributed to non-controlling interest
Other comprehensive income / (loss) attributed to owners of the Parent
31 December

17,221,850

Available-for sale
financial assets fair
value reserve
11,912

896,816
17,162,533
510,520
4,607,054
982,800
19,228

In thousands of Qatari Riyals

2,000,000
92,137
-

Other comprehensive income for the year

389,124,637 ordinary shares of QR 10 each (2010: 389,124,637 shares)
3,882,164
982,800
-

Balance at 1 January

Issued and fully paid up capital:
896,816
15,162,533
510,520
632,753
19,228

Net change in fair value of available-for sale-financial assets
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets transferred to profit or loss
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations
Total other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year
Net Change in Parent’s share in reserve due to cancellation of non controlling interest
Net transfer from non controlling share in reserve due to cancellation of their shares
Net change due to loss of control of subsidiary
Other comprehensive income attributed to non-controlling interest
Other comprehensive income / (loss) attributed to owners of the Parent
31 December

389,133,653 ordinary shares of QR 10 each (2010: 389,133,653 shares)
Total

14,298

Authorized capital:
Over 5 years

Other comprehensive income for the year

22. SHARE CAPITAL
2-5 years

Balance at 1 January

Secured facilities EURO (Note 13)
Unsecured facilities QR
Unsecured facilities AED
Unsecured facilities USD
Secured facilities USD (Note 10)
Unsecured facilities ID
1 year

Cash flow hedge
reserve

2010

25. OTHER RESERVES
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24. GENERAL RESERVE
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26. TREASURY SHARES
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31. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Treasury shares represent the value of shares owned by the Group subsidiaries in the Parent at the end of the reporting year.

27. GAIN ON SALE OF PROPERTIES
During the year, the Group has sold certain properties and has realized gain on sale.

28. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES / LOSS OF CONTROL
During the year the Group has made a net gain of QR 404 million on disposal / loss of control over following subsidiaries:
- Park House Limited;

2011

2010

Staff costs

378,196

511,403

Professional expenses

138,370

341,979

Rent expenses

88,591

157,154

Advertising and promotion expenses

20,965

65,918

Travel expenses

6,181

12,765

Repair and maintenance expense

7,367

2,873

Government fees

15,357

47,303

Utilities expenses

31,853

32,246

Social contributions

72,230

57,519

Other expenses

33,054

57,671

792,164

1,286,831

2011

2010

- Tanween Company W.L.L.;
- Cavendish Compliance Limited;
- Cavendish Learning Limited;

32. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, NET

- Barwa Buliding Materials Company Limited S.P.C.; and
- Barwa Qatari Diar Research Institute QSTP L.L.C.

Impairment losses / (reversals) on:
Advances for projects and investments (Note 11)

29. INCOME FROM CONSULTANCY AND OTHER SERVICES
Consultancy and other services revenues
Advertising revenues

Trading properties (Note 6)

2011

2010

821,573

209,899

-

5,201

821,573

215,100

1,836,459

480,571

(1,236,333)

2,386,149

101,609

101,524

Property, plant and equipment (Note 16)

58,973

715,257

Receivables and prepayments (Note 8)

5,964

-

-

118,341

766,672

3,801,842

2011

2010

1,667,443

2,013,697

Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 9)

Goodwill (Note 15)

The revenues from consulting services represent project consulting revenues recognized by the Group subsidiaries provided to external parties.

33. NET FINANCE COSTS

30. OTHER INCOME

2011

2010

Profit from financial assets classified as available-for-sale

137,942

-

Gain / (loss) on sale of available-for-sale financial assets

64,806

(6,721)

Dividend income

14,260

1,456

Gain / (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment

43,789

(1,786)

Other operating income

48,714

-

178

(207)

Gain on reversal of provisions

59,901

856,412

Other income

15,935

57,441

385,525

906,595

Unrealized gain / (loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Finance costs
Finance cost on Islamic financing obligations
Less: capitalized finance costs
Finance cost charged to profit or loss

(572,492)

(630,148)

1,094,951

1,383,549

113,000

717,951

1,207,951

2,101,500

Income from Murabha and Islamic deposits

118,951

502,002

Finance lease income (Note 10)

340,570

142,629

(268,279)

(104,683)

191,242

539,948

1,016,709

1,561,552

Losses from derivative financial instruments
Finance costs for the year

Finance income

Net foreign exchange losses on financing activities
Finance income for the year
Net finance costs for the year
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34. EARNINGS PER SHARE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to Owners of the Parent for the year by the weighted average number

a) Credit risk

of shares outstanding during the year.

Exposure to credit risk

Net profit attributable to the owners of the Parent for the year (in 000 QR)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (in thousand shares)
Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR)

2011

2010

1,252,368

1,405,629

389,124

347,820

3.22

4.04

There were no potentially dilutive shares outstanding at any time during the year. Therefore, the basic and diluted earnings per share are same.

The carrying amounts of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
Carrying amounts

2011

2010

Bank balances

2,626,116

12,959,624

Available-for-sale financial assets in debt securities

2,578,971

1,528,168

41,158

-

3,056,434

1,806,641

Financial receivables

775,806

2,561,618

Due from related parties

230,771

186,334

9,309,256

19,042,385

Financial assets of a subsidiary held for sale

35. DIVIDENDS

Finance lease receivables

In its Board of Directors Meeting held on 4 March 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors proposed cash dividends of 10% (2010: 10%) from
the outstanding share capital as of reporting date; hence the proposed dividend per share was amounting to QR 1 per share (2010: QR 1 per
share) in total of QR 389 million (2010: QR 389 million). The amounts are subject to the approval of the General assembly.
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Bank balances
Credit risk on bank balances is limited as they are placed with local and foreign banks having good credit ratings assigned by international credit

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

rating agencies.

2011

2010

Bank guarantees

53,758

104,192

Available-for-sale financial assets in debt securities

Letters of credit

406,346

420,659

The Group significantly limits its exposure to credit risk by investing in debt securities, which are either quoted in active securities markets, or
unquoted and issued by Governmental agencies and well reputed creditworthy organisations. There was no impairment loss recognized in respect

The Group anticipates that no material liabilities will arise from the above guarantees and letter of credits, which are issued in the ordinary

of available-for-sale financial assets in debt securities as the decline in fair values of these investments has not been significant or prolonged

course of business.

during the current year. For unquoted investments in debt securities, management depends on valuation and financial reports provided by the
investees to asses recoverability of those investments.

37. CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS
Contractual commitments to contractors and suppliers for property under development
Commitments for purchase of property
Commitments for purchase of investments
Commitments for operating leases
Unused facilities

2011

2010

5,135,345

9,402,122

334,324

-

Financial receivables

2,948

-

Those consist of receivables from trade receivables, bank profits and dividend receivable and receivables under escrow accounts. Credit risk on

151,851

759,209

-

21,693

There is a regular monitoring by the Group’s management of the prices of the debt instruments listed in foreign exchanges, and if there is a
permanent decline in the value of investments, impairment provisions are considered.

those balances is minimal as the Group monitors credit worthiness of counter parties.

Due from related parties
Due from related parties consist of balances due from associates in which the Group significantly influence their operating and financial decisions
and other related parties, hence credit risk thereon is not significant to the Group.
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The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date by geographic region was as follows:

Bank balances

Financial receivables
Financial lease receivables
Due from related parties

Carrying
Amounts

Financial liabilities of a subsidiary held for sale

Domestic

Other GCC
countries

European
countries

North Africa

Total
2011

2,564,328

1,571

53,163

7,054

2,626,116

Liabilities for purchase of land

-

-

2,578,971

-

2,578,971

41,158

-

-

-

41,158

661,517

14,824

99,187

278

775,806

3,056,434

-

-

-

3,056,434

182,995

47,776

-

-

230,771

6,506,432

64,171

2,731,321

7,332

9,309,256

Available-for-sale financial assets
Financial assets of a subsidiary held for sale

In thousands of Qatari Riyals

2010

Carrying amounts
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Financial Payables
Derivative liabilities

Contractual
cash out flows

Less than 1
year

1 – 2 years

2 – 5 years

More than 5
years

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,985,662

(7,985,662)

7,228,647

222,222

517,977

16,816

674,820

(819,439)

819,439

-

-

-

3,272,667

(3,752,298)

610,390

1,128,281

1,458,972

554,655

Due to related parties

23,907,254

(29,094,254)

9,219,550

160,000

1,480,000

18,234,704

Obligation under Islamic finance contracts

24,178,951

(25,682,286)

17,221,850

-

5,740,657

2,719,779

60,019,354

(67,333,939)

35,099,876

1,510,503

9,197,606

21,525,954

c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, profit rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s income
or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures

Carrying amounts

within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. The Group is in the process of setting acceptable parameters, based on value at risk,

Domestic

Other GCC
countries

European
countries

North Africa

Total
2010

12,838,797

3,696

115,394

1,737

12,959,624

1,333,825

194,343

-

-

1,528,168

-

-

-

-

-

Financial receivables

2,517,194

3,550

40,874

-

2,561,618

Financial lease receivables

1,806,641

-

-

-

1,806,641

33,217

97,445

55,672

-

186,334

A 10 percent strengthening / weakening of the Qatari Riyal against currencies that are not pegged against US Dollars as at 31 December would

18,529,674

299,034

211,940

1,737

19,042,385

have increased / (decreased) consolidated equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables,

Bank balances
Available-for-sale financial assets
Financial assets of a subsidiary held for sale

Due from related parties

Group believes that impairment allowance of QR 8 million is sufficient against financial receivables as at 31 December 2011 (Note 8). Financial

b) Liquidity risk
agreements, if any:

Financial liabilities of a subsidiary held for sale

Less than 1
year

1 – 2 years

denominated in USD are not subject to currency risk, as Qatari Riyal is pegged to the US Dollars.

Sensitivity analysis

EURO

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities including finance cost payments and excluding the impact of netting

Contractual
cash out flows

Currency risk

The major items of the foreign currency financial assets and liabilities are denominated in EGP, GBP and EURO. The financial assets and liabilities

2011

receivables include certain balances that are overdue but in management’s view are not impaired as at the reporting date.

Carrying
Amounts

i.

in particular finance cost rates, remain constant.

The Group monitors its exposure to credit risk on an ongoing basis and based on the management’s assessment and historic default rates, the

2011

that may be accepted and which is monitored on a daily basis.

2 – 5 years

More than 5
years

Equity

Profit or loss

10%
Weakening

10%
Strengthening

10%
Weakening

10%
Strengthening

(169,890)

169,890

(163,055)

163,055

GBP

(30,685)

30,685

(5)

5

EGP

(288,956)

288,956

(12,033)

12,033

-

-

-

-

KWD

62,939

(62,939)

62,939

-

-

-

Financial Payables

2,267,264

(2,267,264)

2,042,630

-

224,634

-

Derivative liabilities

452,134

(452,134)

452,134

-

-

-

2,486,437

(3,718,796)

616,454

1,068,277

2,034,065

-

Due to related parties

16,822,844

(21,817,166)

1,483,300

1,889,160

7,752,206

10,692,500

GBP

Obligation under Islamic finance contracts

28,371,134

(31,953,134)

3,267,582

1,822,000

26,863,552

-

EGP

(790,029)

790,029

-

-

50,462,752

(60,271,433)

7,925,039

4,779,437

36,874,457

10,692,500

KWD

129,201

(129,201)

75,479

(75,479)

Liabilities for purchase of land

2010

EURO

Equity

Profit or loss

10%
Weakening

10%
Strengthening

10%
Weakening

10%
Strengthening

(160,654)

160,654

(103,919)

103,919

87,949

(87,949)

7,674

(7,674)
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ii. Equity price risk:

Fair values

Sensitivity analysis – equity price risk

Fair values versus carrying amounts

Significant portion of the Group’s equity investments are unlisted investments which are measured at cost subject to impairment testing. Quoted

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the consolidated statement of financial position, are

equity investments are listed on either Qatar Exchange or Bahrain Stock Exchange.

as follows:
Carrying amounts / Fair value

iii. Profit rate risk

Profile

Cash and bank balances

At the reporting date the profit rate profile of the Group’s profit-bearing financial instruments was:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets

Carrying amounts

Financial assets of a subsidiary held for sale

2011

2010

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

Finance lease receivables

2011

2010

2,626,385

12,983,145

4,137

3,959

3,041,593

2,736,140

41,158

-

3,056,434

1,806,641

Financial receivables

775,806

2,561,618

Due from related parties

230,771

186,334

2,578,971

1,528,168

(15,226,437)

(34,836,193)

Financial liabilities of a subsidiary held for sale

(12,647,466)

(33,308,025)

Financial payables
Derivative liabilities

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

Liabilities for purchase of land

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore a change in profit rates

Due to related parties

at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

Obligation under Islamic finance contracts

(62,939)

-

(2,267,264)

(7,985,662)

(452,134)

(674,820)

(2,486,437)

(3,272,667)

(16,822,844)

(23,907,254)

(28,371,134)

(24,178,951)

(40,686,468)

(39,741,517)

Carrying amounts

2011

2010

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

-

1,993,782

(30,070,268)

(15,472,771)

assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and / or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When

(30,070,268)

(13,478,989)

applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial

a) Property, plant and equipment

Cash flow sensitivity for variable rate instruments
A change of 50 basis points in profit rates at the reporting date would have increased / (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts
shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

2011

The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on market values. The market value of
property is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller
in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The
market value of items of land, buildings, equipment, fixtures and fittings is based on the quoted market prices for similar items.

Equity / Profit or loss

Variable rate financial liabilities

39. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

b) Investment in quoted equity securities

2010

50 bp Increase

50 bp Decrease

50 bp Increase

50 bp Decrease

(459,000)

459,000

(98,742)

98,742

The fair value of quoted financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets is determined by reference to
their quoted bid price at the reporting date.

c) Advances and other receivables
Concentration risk

The fair value of advances and other receivables, excluding construction work in progress, if any, is estimated as the present value of future cash

Concentration risk arises when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar economic activities or activities in the same geographic region

flows, discounted at the market rate of profit at the reporting date.

or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic,
political or other conditions. The Group seeks to manage its concentration risk by establishing geographic and industry wise concentration limits.

d) Derivatives
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their listed market price. While for the profit rate swaps, if a listed market price is not
available, then fair value is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward price for the
residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free profit rate.
The fair value of profit rate swaps is also based on broker quotes. Those quotes are tested for reasonableness by discounting estimated future
cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract and using market profit rates for a similar instrument at the measurement date.
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40. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The Group uses widely recognized valuation models for determining the fair value of common and more simple financial instruments, like profit
rate and currency swaps that use only observable market data and require little management judgment and estimation. Observable prices and

a) Critical accounting judgments

model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, exchange traded derivatives and simple over the counter

Impairment of receivables and advances

derivatives like profit rate swaps. Availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management judgment and

An estimate of the collectible amount of trade accounts receivable, advances and due from related parties is made when collection of the full

estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determination of fair values.

amount is no longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual basis.
Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific
Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the length

events and general conditions in the financial markets.

of time past due, based on historical recovery rates.
The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, by the level in the fair value hierarchy

Classification of investment securities
On acquisition of an investment security, the Group decides whether it should be classified as “investments at fair value through profit or loss”

into which the fair value measurement is categorized:

or “available-for-sale”. The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying its investments. The Group classifies investments as “at fair

2011

value through profit or loss” if they are acquired primarily for the purpose of short term profit making and cash generation. All other investments

Financial assets at fair value:

are classified as “available-for-sale”. The Group accounts for investments in equity securities as investment in associate only when significant

Available-for-sale financial assets

influence over the investee’s operations can be proved to exercise, else and regardless of the ownership share, the investment is classified as

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

available-for-sale.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment for calculating depreciation. This estimate is

Derivative financial instruments

Valuation of financial instruments

2010

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements:

Financial assets at fair value:
Available-for-sale financial assets

• Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). This category
includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Level 3

Total

105,013

-

-

105,013

4,137

-

-

4,137

109,150

-

-

109,150

-

(452,134)

-

(452,134)

-

(452,134)

-

(452,134)

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

503,083

-

-

503,083

3,959

-

-

3,959

507,042

-

-

507,042

-

(674,820)

-

(674,820)

-

(674,820)

-

(674,820)

Financial liabilities at fair value:
Derivative financial instruments

observable from market data.
• Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments where the valuation technique

Level 2

Financial liabilities at fair value:

determined after considering the expected usage of the asset, physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence.

• Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.

Level 1

b) Estimation uncertainty

includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation.

Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments

This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments

The Group treats available-for-sale equity investments as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in fair value below

or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.

its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires considerable
judgment. The Group treats “significant” generally as 20% or more and ‘prolonged’ greater than six (6) months. In addition, the Group evaluates

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price

other factors, including normal volatility in share price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted

quotations. For all other financial instruments the Group determines fair values using valuation techniques.

equities, if any.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable

Fair value of unquoted equity and debt investments

prices exist, Black-Scholes and polynomial option pricing models and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation

If the market for a financial asset is not active or not available, the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques which include the

techniques include risk-free and benchmark profit rates, credit spreads and other premia used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity

use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option

prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price volatilities and correlations. The objective of valuation

pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances. This valuation requires the Group to make estimates about expected future

techniques is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the financial instrument at the reporting date, that would have been

cash flows and discount rates that are subject to uncertainty.

determined by market participants acting at arm’s length.
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Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. Goodwill embedded in the

Real Estate

Business services

Financial institution
and other services

Total
2010

455,629

472,150

8,685,892

cost of acquisition of subsidiaries and associates and other indefinite life intangibles, if any, are tested for impairment annually and at other times

Revenues

7,758,113

when such indicators exist. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not

Finance Cost

1,561,552

-

-

1,561,552

be recoverable. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management estimates the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash

Depreciation

61,427

6,879

23,557

91,863

1,405,108

(45,064)

51,048

1,411,092

(165,389)

-

(2,691)

(168,080)

63,251,890

370,695

8,408,487

72,031,072

1,574,165

-

376,950

1,951,115

55,418,713

171,563

5,291,218

60,881,494

generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Results for the year
Share of results of associates

The estimates used by management in testing impairment of the goodwill resulting from business combinations are as follows:

Reportable segment assets
Investment in associates

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations:

Reportable segment liabilities

The calculation of value in use for cash generating units relating to real estate projects are most sensitive to the following assumptions:
• Gross margin
Gross margins are based on average values achieved in the period preceding the start of the budget period. These are increased over the
budget period for anticipated efficiency improvements.

On 4 January 2012, the Group acquired additional 50% equity stake in an associate Asas Real Estate Company W.L.L. (ASAS) from its current
shareholder. Post this acquisition, the Group has 100% equity stake in ASAS.

• Discount rates
Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each cash generating unit, regarding the time value of money
and individual risks of the underlying assets which have not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is
based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its operating segments and derived from its weighted average cost of capital (WACC).
The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment by the Group’s
investors. The cost of debt is based on the profit bearing Islamic borrowings, the Group is obliged to service. Segment-specific risk is

• Growth rate
Growth rate is used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period.

41. OPERATING SEGMENT
The Group has three reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic divisions. The strategic divisions offer
different businesses and are managed separately because they require different expertise. For each of the strategic divisions, the Group’s Top
Management (the chief operating decision maker) reviews internal management reports on regular basis. The real estate segment develops, sells
and lease condominiums, villas and plots of land , business services segment provides business support services and financial institution and
other services comprise banks, financial and other institutions.
The operating segments are monitored and strategic decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment operating results, which are
considered as measure of the individual segment’s profit and losses.

Real Estate

Business services

Financial institution
and other services

Total
2011

Revenues

3,773,449

108,651

313,196

4,195,296

Finance Cost

1,016,688

(365)

386

1,016,709

66,069

6,986

26,072

99,127

1,299,290

(82,449)

68,960

1,285,801

Results for the year
Share of results of associates
Reportable segment assets
Investment in associates
Reportable segment liabilities

43. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
The comparative figures presented for 2010 have been reclassified where necessary to preserve consistency with the 2011figures. However,
such reclassifications did not have any effect on the consolidated net profit, or other comprehensive income or the total consolidated equity for
the comparative year.

incorporated by applying individual beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available marked data.

Depreciation

42. SUBSEQUET EVENTS

248,139

17,567

61,573

327,279

61,950,627

243,253

430,468

62,624,348

1,618,160

151,794

1,412,337

3,182,291

53,092,008

104,190

79,334

53,275,532

